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EXCLU
SIVE

Stylish, charming and in outstanding locations. Our properties are more than
just ofﬁces, apartments or retail space. Elegant architecture, individually
designed for the people that live, work and spend time therein. Unique and
exclusive.

MANAGE
MENT
REPORT

BERLIN HOUSE

MOSCOW

5600

SQM OFFICE SPACE

BERLIN HOUSE
MOSCOW
Berlin House is a Prime Class A ofﬁce/retail property which was completed
and leased in 2002 and acquired by the Company in 2004. It is located
on Petrovka Street, within walking distance of Red Square and the Kremlin.
Berlin House is leased to international and Russian tenants, such as Apple,
Thompsen Reuters and S7 Group. It has a Gross Building Area of 13,000
sqm, which includes 5,600 sqm of ofﬁce space, 1,800 sqm of retail space
and 64 parking spaces. The Company sold 90% of the property in 2011.
Higher rates under renewal lease agreements and space optimization plans
for the retail area have resulted in a higher value for the Company’s remaining 10% stake in the property.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
In January 2012, our ﬁrst parking garage on Turgenevskaya Square opened
to the public. Construction of our mixed-use project Arbat I progressed signiﬁcantly, with apartment sales scheduled to commence yet in the second
quarter of 2013, and completion of the project expected in the third quarter of
2013. Groundbreaking and beginning of construction for our second project
in the historical Arbat district took place in October 2012. In the beginning of
2012 the vacancy rate in our St. Petersburg business center, Petrovsky Fort,
was 15%. At year end, this rate has been reduced to 4%.
The rental income of our owned and managed assets increased compared to
last year, and so did their valuations. In generally stable markets, the higher
valuations are mostly due to efﬁcient asset management and operation. Construction is progressing now on both of our Arbat projects, with signiﬁcant
cash reserves being held to ensure that completion of the projects does not
depend on outside ﬁnancing.
Eastern Property Holdings’ total assets increased from US$ 338 million as
per the end of 2011 to almost US$ 350 million at the end of December 2012.
Net assets were US$ 289 million, compared to US$ 277 million in the end of
2011. We are reporting a net proﬁt of approximately US$ 12 million, which
was a net loss of US$ 56 million at the end of 2011. The net asset value per
share increases from US$ 64.87 as per end December 2011 to US$ 67.77
at the end of December 2012. Earnings per share were US$ 2.80, compared
to a loss of US$ 13.13 last year.

The Company continues to provide construction ﬁnancing for the Arbat
projects at market terms. Despite signiﬁcant cash reserves, the Company
is exploring the possibility of outside construction ﬁnancing. Sales proceeds
from the apartments of the ﬁrst project can be used to fund further construction progress of the second project. Cash reserves held have been invested
in debt securities to achieve higher interest than in a bank account. In 2012,
the Company has earned US$ 2 million interest on bonds and approximately
US$ 6 million interest income on loans.
In December 2012, the Liechtenstein based CAIAC Aurora Value Fund has
acquired two thirds of the Company’s voting shares, leading to a separation
of Valartis Group’s role as largest shareholder and manager at the same
time. Both the Fund and Valartis Group have expressed the intention that
Valartis will continue to be managing the Company for the next years.
Sincerely,
The Board of Directors
April 2013

GENEVA HOUSE

MOSCOW

7200

SQM OFFICE SPACE

GENEVA HOUSE
MOSCOW
Geneva House is a Prime Class A ofﬁce/retail property located approximately
600 meters from the Kremlin, and adjacent to Berlin House. Gross Building
Area is 16,500 sqm, which includes 7,200 sqm of ofﬁce space, 2,700 sqm
of retail space, and 140 parking spaces. It 100% leased to strong international and Russian tenants, including Merrill Lynch, Akin Gmp, S7 Airline and
Chanel. From acquisition of 50% in Geneva House in 2006, the Company
developed and subsequently leased the asset. After acquisition of the remaining 50% of the property in 2010, the majority stake was sold in 2011,
The Company now is a 10% owner of the property in order to participate in
its potential future appreciation.
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The following is a discussion of the key factors inﬂuencing our 2012 results
and our ﬁnancial condition at the end of the year.
Our consolidated ﬁnancial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
OVERVIEW
Eastern Property Holdings Limited (“EPH”, the “Company”) is a real estate
investment and development company with a focus on Russia, the CIS, and
other formerly socialist countries or their successors in Central or Eastern Europe. To date, all of the Company’s operating activities have been in
Russia.
EPH’s objective is to generate long-term value appreciation by acquiring or
developing properties which leverage the strengths of its existing portfolio
and the capabilities of the management team.
The Company is managed by Valartis International Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Valartis Group AG. Valartis International maintains a specialised
staff of professionals who are dedicated full time to the business of EPH.
As of 31 December 2012, EPH had total assets of US$ 349.59 million
(2011: US$ 338.10 million) and net assets (calculated as total equity) of US$
288.87 million (2011: US$ 276.52 million).
In the twelve months ended 31 December 2012 the Company is reporting a
net proﬁt of US$ 11.93 million, compared to a net loss of US$ 55.97 million
for the year ended 31 December 2011.
FACTORS AFFECTING THE RESULTS OF EPH’S OPERATIONS
The proﬁtability of the Company’s operations are affected by global, local,
and asset-speciﬁc factors.
The principal factors contributing to the volatility of the Company’s net asset
value and net earnings in 2011 and 2012 are revaluation of assets held at
fair value and exchange rate ﬂuctuations between the US dollar and Russian ruble.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011
EPH is reporting a net proﬁt of US$ 11.93 million for 2012, compared with
a net loss of US$ 55.97 million in 2011. The most signiﬁcant factors in this
wide ﬂuctuation were interest income earned on bonds and development
loans, fair value adjustments on investment properties and at associated
companies, and exchange rate ﬂuctuation. Material income and expense
items from the Company’s consolidated Income Statement are explained
below:
Gross rental income
The Company’s gross rental income was US$ 7.80 million for 2012, compared to US$ 13.71 million in 2011. The signiﬁcant decline in gross rental
income is primarily caused by the sale of the majority stakes in the Berlin
House and Geneva House buildings in 2011.
Prior to the sale, Berlin House contributed US$ 3.98 million of gross rental
income in 2011 and Geneva House generated US$ 3.01 million of gross
rents in 2011.
Petrovsky Fort produced gross rents of US$ 5.76 million in 2011. Due to
reduced vacancies in the property and higher rent levels in the local market,
the property generated US$ 6.63 million of gross rents in 2012.
Gross rent from the Magistral’naya property, which is leased by Gazprom
subsidiary Podzemgazprom, was $ 0.96 million in 2011, compared to
$ 1.17 million in 2012.
Ground rents paid
Our ground rents paid slightly decreased from US$ 414 thousand in 2011 to
US$ 382 thousand in 2012.
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Service charge income and expenses on a principal basis
In accordance with the local practice, most of our tenants pay us a contractually ﬁxed amount to cover certain operating expenses of the building they
occupy, rather than a pro rata share of the actual costs. We act as principal
by collecting the ﬁxed amounts, then paying the actual expenses. In practice,
the actual costs have generally exceeded the maximum amount tenants are
prepared to pay on a per square meter basis, and, considering property operating expenses below, we, like most landlords, are not fully reimbursed for
operating expenses. Our service charge income on a principal basis was US$
3.26 million in 2011, and decreased to US$ 2.31 million in 2012. Our service charge expenses on a principal basis decreased from US$ 2.49 million
in 2011 to US$ 1.44 million in 2012. The decreases in both lines are mostly
due to the sale of the Berlin House and Geneva House properties in 2011.
Property operating expenses
Our property operating expenses decreased from US$ 2.58 million in 2011
to US$ 1.41 million in 2012.
The decrease in property operating expenses is mostly due to the sale of the
majority stakes in Berlin House and Geneva House in 2011.
Repair and maintenance costs
Our repair and maintenance costs insigniﬁcantly decreased from US$ 0.79
million in 2011 to US$ 0.61 million in 2012.

Non-income taxes
Our non-income tax expense decreased from US$ 1.79 million in 2011 to
US$ 0.51 million in 2012. The decrease in non-income taxes is due to the
sale of 90% of the Berlin House and Geneva House properties in 2011.
NET RENTAL INCOME
As a result of the above, and particularly, the decrease of gross rental income
due to the sale of 90% of boh Berlin House and Geneva House in 2011, our
Net rental income decreased from US$ 8.91 million in 2011 to US$ 5.76
million in 2012 although Net rental income generated by Petrovsky Fort and
Magistral’naya together increased from US$ 5.49 in 2011 to US$ 5.76 million in 2012.
Acrual for performance fees
Pursuant to the Real Estate Management Agreement between the Company
and Valartis International Ltd., under which the latter provides management
services, Valartis Interational Ltd. (the “Manager”) is entitled to a performance fee equaling 15% of the appreciation of the Company’s investments
above their initial cost. Provisions are taken for these fees on each reporting date if an asset has appreciated in value, or reversed if an asset has
depreciated in value. Payment of performance fees is asset-speciﬁc, in that
payment is only made in case of a cash event at an appreciated asset, at
which time only the fees attributable to that particular asset will be paid.
Because provisions are taken on an ongoing basis, payment of performance
fees would have no impact on the Company’s NAV. Payment of performance
fees is also subject to a high water mark principle, in that no payments will be
made until the Company’s per share NAV is at the same level or higher than
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at the last date a performance fee was paid. To date, the only performance
fee which has been paid was triggered by the reﬁnancing of Berlin House in
October 2007, setting the high water mark at US$ 111.86 per share. US$
0.23 million was accrued for performance fees in 2012, compared to US$
0.98 million in 2011.
Management fees
The lower average net asset value of the Company in 2012 resulted in reduced management fees. In 2012 the Company paid fees of US$ 5.63 million, compared to US$ 6.01 million in 2011.
Professional and administration fees
Professional and administration fees, which include legal advice, audit, appraisals and the cost of other services for the Company and its subsidiaries decreased to US$ 2.02 million in 2012 from US$ 4.29 million in 2011.
Signiﬁcantly higher expenses in 2011 were caused by costs of exceptional
legal and other advisory services related to the sale and restructuring of
major assets, reﬁnancings, amendment of the Company’s articles and investor relations.
Salaries and social charges
Our salaries and social charges were US$ 69 thousand in 2012 compared to
US$ 300 thousand in 2011.

Interest income
One of the Company’s business segments is development ﬁnancing, in
which EPH is providing construction loans to its joint venture company’s at
market interest rates. In 2012 signiﬁcant new loans were made to the joint
venture which develops the Arbat projects. This joint venture, Vahktangov
Place Limited, is 60%-owned by the Company. Loans made to 60%-owned
subsidiaries are 60% treated as the Company’s investment in the underlying project. The remaining 40% portion is treated as a loan and generates
interest income.
Also during 2012 the Company received signiﬁcant interest income from
the bonds held. In 2012 the Company accrued US$ 7.87 million of interest
income from loans and bonds, compared to US$ 4.75 million interest income
in 2011.
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Gain on increased ownership stake
In 2012 the Company obtained an additional 10% ownership in the jointventure company Bluestone Investments Limited (“Bluestone”) which resulted in a gain of US$ 1.67 million. Before 2012 EPH owned 50% of Bluestone
which, through its 100%-owned subsidiaries, is party to the Moscow and
Federal investment contracts granting rights to the Arbat projects. In 2011
the Company negotiated with its joint venture partner an increased equity
stake in return for continued construction ﬁnancing. Bluestone has assigned
its rights to the Arbat projects to a new company, Vakhtangov Place Limited,
in which EPH owns half the voting shares but 60% of the economic rights.
The cost of the additional stake was nil, which resulted in the value of the
10% stake being recognized in 2011 as a US$ 5.87 million gain. The ownership stake in both Bluestone and Vahktangov Place Limited in 2012 and
2011, respectively, was increased by obtaining non-voting preferred shares.
Other income
In 2012 the Company recognized a gain in the amount of US$ 0.75 million
which represents the write off of the liabilities of which the limitation period
had already expired. In 2011 there was no comparable income.

Net foreign exchange gain / loss
The functional currency of a company corresponds to the primary economic
environment where the company operates, and is used for accounting purposes. As EPH’s real estate assets are in Russia, the Company’s subsidiaries
holding these assets keep their accounts in RUB. When the subsidiaries have
assets and liabilities which are denominated or valued in US$, for example
US$ bank accounts, the real estate assets themselves, or US$ loans, ﬂuctuation of the US$ / RUB exchange rate changes the subsidiary’s RUB assets or
liabilities even if the underlying amount is unchanged in US$. For example,
weakening of the RUB against the US$ by 10% would result in a single dollar in the bank generating a 10% gain in terms of the equivalent number of
RUB the subsidiary is holding. At the same time, a liability of one dollar would
require 10% more RUB to settle, and would generate a loss of 10%.

Other expenses
Other expenses were US$ 3.59 million in 2012, compared to US$ 5.55 million in 2011. The events generating the expenses in the two years were quite
different: in 2012 the most part of the expense represents the reimbursement of ﬁt-out costs of Geneva House as a part of our post-sale obligations
while in 2011 it was due to the write-off of unrecoverable Russian VAT credits from construction of Geneva House.

Our net gain from foreign currency translation in 2012 was US$ 4.38 million,
compared to a loss of US$ 14.84 million in 2011. The gain in 2012 was
primarily caused by the currency impact on our loans, whereas the loss in
2011 was primarily caused by the midyear sale of majority stakes in Berlin
House and Geneva House which were consolidated into the Group for the
period when the US$ signiﬁcantly weakened against the RUB, creating a loss
from its US$ nominated real estate assets.
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Net gain / loss from fair value adjustment on ﬁnancial investments
The Company’s only ﬁnancial investments end-2012 consist of its US$
19.64 million bond portfolio and an interest rate swap. Through the bond
portfolio funds intended for construction ﬁnancing earn higher interest than
available on bank deposits. The interest rate swap ﬁxes the otherwise ﬂoating rate of the UniCredit loan secured by Petrovsky Fort, and, as interest rates
are currently lower than at the time of entering into the swap agreement, has
a negative value of US$ 0.82 million which will ultimately be at zero when
the loan matures in January 2014. In 2012 the Company recognised a gain
of US$ 0.78 million from its ﬁnancial investments, of which US$ 0.22 million
was attributable to increased fair value of its bond portfolio, and US$ 0.56
million due to a lower negative value of the existing swap agreement. In
2011 the Company recognised a gain of US$ 1.26 million from its ﬁnancial
investments.
Net loss / gain from fair value adjustment on investment properties
In general, property valuations in Moscow and St. Petersburg were modestly
higher in 2012. The Company’s recognised gain of US$ 3.00 million in 2012
is the total result of increased valuations for Petrovsky Fort, Magistral’naya
and retail space in the Arbat projects.
Development property impairment
Development property is treated as inventory and carried at cost, but tested
against its appraised value for impairment at each reporting date. The Arbat project includes both retail space, which would be retained and leased
upon completion and apartment space, which will be sold. The retail space
is investment property, and carried at fair value, and the apartment space is
development property and carried at the lower of cost or appraised value.

In 2012 the appraised value of the apartment space in the Arbat project
was lower than cost, which included not only construction expenditures but
the original acquisition price for 50% of the joint venture. In 2011, upon restarting of construction on the ﬁrst of the two buildings, more detailed plans
were approved and the distribution of space between retail and apartment
was revised. In addition, the second project received a key approval which
signiﬁcantly reduced the risks involved in the project and consequently increased the appraised value of the asset. As a result, development property
impairment was reversed by US$ 2.83 million in 2011. In 2012 an impairment of US$ 4.10 million was recognised on development property.
Finance costs
Our ﬁnance costs decreased from US$ 6.92 million in 2011 to US$ 3.03
million in 2012. The decrease was primarily due to the fact that in 2012 we
had only one loan outstanding, the Unicredit loan for Petrovsky Fort, whereas
in 2011 we had four bank loans, with only one being in place for the full 12
month period.
Share of associates’ loss
The Company recognized its share of associates’ gain in the amount of US$
5.55 million which is caused by the Berlin House and Geneva House properties substantive valuation increase during 2012. The Company’s share of
associates’ loss in 2011 was US$ 21.93 million, primarily attributable to the
reduction of the equity value of Vestive to zero value.
Income taxes
While Petrovsky Fort incurred income tax expenses in 2012, the Company
has received tax credits as well. These were primarily attributable to tax
losses generated by Inspetsstroy LLC, our Russian subsidiary which holds
title to the Magistral’naya property and by Geneva House LLC, the Russian
subsidiary of Bluestone Investments Limited developing the Arbat projects.
Our income tax beneﬁt was US$ 0.83 million in 2012, compared to US$ 4.47
million income tax expense in 2011 caused by the write off of tax losses
accumulated in EPH Real Estate during the construction of Geneva House.
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The Company’s focus in 2012 was on construction of the Arbat mixed use
residential, ofﬁce and retail projects, representing it’s largest investment and
primary source of value creation in the one to three year medium term. For
the ﬁrst, more advanced of the two projects, a large part of concrete and
brick works was ﬁnished by the end of 2012. Ground-breaking for the second project took place in the third quarter of 2012.
The leasing of 10% owned Geneva House, which is managed by Valartis
International, was completed in 2012. Works for space optimization of the
retail area on the ground, basement and ﬁrst ﬂoor of Berlin House, which is
10% owned by the Company and managed by Valartis International as well,
are on their way. Vacancy in the Company’s Petrovsky Fort business center in
St. Petersburg was signiﬁcantly reduced to an all-time low of less than 3% in
the fourth quarter of 2012. The Company’s ﬁrst parking garage in Moscow’s
central business district, Turgenevskaya, which is 50% owned, opened to the
public in January 2012.

Investment Properties
Location, Address
Berlin House,
5 Petrovka Street, Moscow
Geneva House,
7 Petrovka Street, Moscow
Petrovsky Fort,
4 Finlandsky Prospect, St. Petersburg
Magistral’naya Buildings,
1st Magistralnaya Street 11/2, Moscow
Turgenevskaya Parking,
3/1 Turgenevskaya Ploshad, Moscow
* mixed-use ofﬁce
** percentage of net rentable area

At the end of 2012, EPH continued to own 10% stakes in Berlin House and
Geneva House, after selling the majority stakes in 2011. Proceeds from the
proﬁtable sale of the two properties were partly distributed to shareholders
in the form of a US$ 5.00 per share dividend in September 2011, with the
remaining cash being used to reduce debt and re-start construction on the
Arbat projects. The Company’s liquid assets, primarily held in the form of
investment grade bonds of short duration, are being retained to ensure continued construction on the Arbat projects pending availability of third party
ﬁnancing on acceptable terms.

Building
Area
m²

Ofﬁce
Area
(NLA m²)

Retail
Area
(NLA m²)

Total
Rentable Area
m²

12,988.60

5,640.60

1,788.60

7,429.20

16,454.80

7,161.00

2,714.00

9,875.00

47,609.60

15,302.10

5,796.70

21,098.80

3,552.10

2,546.40 *

n/a

3,099.40

10,132.00

n/a

n/a

n/a
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Berlin House
Berlin House was completed and leased in 2002. A signiﬁcant amount of
ofﬁce space, which has been occupied by the original tenants, became available end-2012 and was then re-leased at materially higher rates. In addition,
the Company and the new majority owner of the property decided on space
optimization of the retail and entrance area. At the time of release of this
report, a new long term lease contract for the entire retail area is in place,
reducing the asset’s vacancy to zero percent. The higher rates under the
renewal lease agreements and the new retail area have resulted in a higher
value for the Company’s remaining stake in the property.

Turgenevskaya Parking
The Turgenevskaya Parking property, which is 50%-owned by the Company
through its Vestive joint venture, opened in January 2012. Initial demand has
been disappointing, with car owners more accustomed to occasional modest ﬁnes for illegal outside parking in the area than paying to park in secure
indoor premises. Signiﬁcantly higher parking ﬁnes which became effective
mid-2012, in conjunction with marketing of the facility and more active enforcement of parking regulations in the area lead to better results in the latter
half of 2012. Hourly parking, as well as the number of short term and long
term leases keeps improving.

Geneva House
Geneva House has signed an exceptionally good mix of tenants, with the
lease agreement for the last remaining space of 1,300 sqm in the asset
having been signed in May 2012. The property is 100% occupied now. The
majority of tenants are paying the full contractual rent, after a discount for
ﬁt-out works undertaken by the tenants in return for a reduced rental rate in
the ﬁrst 12 to 18 months of the lease term.

Magistral’naya
EPH’s Magistral’naya ofﬁce property in Moscow is leased to a single tenant, Gazprom subsidiary Podzemgazprom. The tenant occupied the property
under a short term lease starting February 2011 and signed a 10 year lease
in January 2012. The lease agreement is subject to annual indexation and
compensation of operating expenses.

Petrovsky Fort
The Company owns the Petrovsky Fort business center in St. Petersburg. At
the beginning of 2012 the vacancy rate of the property was 15%, already
signifying an improvement from a vacancy rate of 27% one year earlier. By
December 2012 the vacancy rate was below 4%.

Parking
Spaces

Vacancy
Rate
% **

Year of
Construction

Year of
Renovation

Purchase
Date

Owning
Entity

65

12%

2002

n/a

Jul 2004

140

0%

2009

n/a

n/a

154

4%

2003

n/a

Jun 2006

140

0%

1966; 1994

2003 – 2007

Oct 2007

312

n/a

2012

n/a

Mar 2008

Connecta GmbH & Co KG
EPH Real Estate Ltd via
OOO EPH One
Romsay Properties Ltd via
OOO Petrovsky Fort
Housefar Ltd via
OOO Inspetstroy
Vestive Ltd via
OOO Inkonika

Ownership
Percentage

10%
10%
99.9%
100%
50.0%
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Project Arbat
Construction on the Arbat projects was re-started in January 2011. In November 2011 rights to the project were extended until June 2014, giving the
Company’s 50%-owned joint venture ample time to complete construction.
The ﬁrst project is on schedule, with all material concrete and façade works
being well advanced at the end of 2012. Ofﬁcial start of sales is scheduled
for the second quarter of 2013. Site preparation and ground-breaking for the
second project took place during the last quarter of 2012, with an expected
construction period of approximately 24 months.
Scandinavia Land
The Company continues to explore options for maximising the potential of its
103 hectare Scandinavia land site near St. Petersburg.

Location, Address

State of Project

Projected
Completion

Purchase
Date

Holding
Company

Ownership
Percentage

2013

July 2007

Vakhtangov
Place Ltd.

60%

2014

Jul 2007/
Dec 2007

Vakhtangov
Place Ltd.

60%

open

Mar 2008

Vestive Ltd.

50%

open

Aug 2007/
Jan 2008

Idelisa Ltd.

100%

Development Properties
Arbat Multi-Use I, Moscow
Mixed use development,
Residential and Retail

In construction since October 2005
The project, located in the old town of Moscow, will
include retail, theatre, and luxury apartment space,
consists of approx. 27,000 sqm Gross Build Area on
a site area of 3,700 sqm.

Arbat Multi-Use II, Moscow
Mixed use development,
Residential and Retail

In construction since Q4 2012
The second project, located near the ﬁrst, consists
of approx. 11,500 sqm of Gross Built Area on a site
area of 2,850 sqm and will also consist of retail
space for lease, and luxury apartments for sale. One
structure formerly on the site has been removed,
while another is yet to be demolished, making way
for site preparation and start of construction in Q4
2012.

Inkonika,
Khokhlovskaya Ploshad, Moscow
Parking Project

Construction on hold since December 2008
Located at Khokhlovskaya Ploshad on the Boulevard
Ring in the Northeastern area of the CBD. The site
has an approximate area of 3,000 sqm. The building
will comprise 5 underground ﬂoors. The planned
bulding will have a total build area of 12,100 sqm,
comprised of approx. 11,300 sqm for approx. 300
parking spaces. The city will receive the additional
800 sqm for a Museum.

Scandinavia Land Site,
St. Petersburg region
Land held for undetermined use
Land site close to St. Petersburg zoned 103 hectares of land located 22 Kms from St.
Petersburg, near the “Scandinavia” highway which
for residential development
connects St. Petersburg and Helsinki, Finland. The
land borders the Sestra River, and is already correctly
zoned for development as, for example, a large
residental development.
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The following tables provide a breakdown of the 2012 appraised values of
investment and development properties which EPH owns in full or in part.
Please note that the appraised values and carrying values shown are for
100% of each asset, including for those properties in which EPH’s stake is
lower.

Rental Properties
Petrovsky Fort *
Magistral’naya *
Berlin House *
Geneva House *
Inkonika / Turgenevskaya *

Appraised
Value *
in US$

Carrying
Value
in US$

Valuation
movement in
the period
in US$

Net initial
yield
in %

Reversionary
yield
in %

Reversionary
potential
in US$

61,800,000
8,200,000
135,700,000
164,100,000
19,700,000

61,800,000
8,200,000
135,700,000
164,100,000
19,700,000

375,000
2,100,000
44,100,000
14,550,000
2,100,000

9.43
10.63
5.23
8.94
n/a

12.08
13.33
10.67
9.73
n/a

1,639,664
220,923
7,374,357
1,301,094
n/a

Appraised
Value *
in US$

Carrying
Value
in US$

Valuation
movement in
the period
in US$

138,400,000
50,000,000
1,800,000
39,100,000

138,400,000
43,933,000
1,800,000
39,100,000

22,600,000
17,400,000
20,000
–

* Valuation based on Income Approach

Development Projects
Arbat Multi-Use I *
Arbat Multi-Use II *
Inkonika / Khokhlovskaya *
Scandinavia *
* Valuation based on Residual Value Approach
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Gustav Stenbolt,
born 1957, Norwegian
Chairman
Executive Member
(since March 2003)

Mr. Stenbolt is the CEO of Valartis Group and member of the Board of Directors of ENR Russia Invest S.A., Geneva. Mr. Stenbolt is also a member of
the Board of Directors of Anglo Chinese Group, Hong Kong. He is a graduate
in economics from Fribourg University and founded MCT Group in 1996.
Mr. Stenbolt also served on the Management Committee of EPH from its
founding until 2007.

Philipp LeibundGut,
born 1973, Swiss
Executive Member
(since March 2003)

Mr. LeibundGut is a partner at MCG, the majority shareholder of Valartis
Group AG and a member of the Board of Directors of Valartis Asset Management SA. He was instrumental in the founding of EPH, and also served as
a member of the Management Committee from 2003 until 2006. Before
joining MCG, Mr. LeibundGut was in charge of the Russian investment activities of Hansa AG, and prior to that was with Credit Suisse. He is a graduate
of the Technical College of Basle-Land and Basle-Stadt, and a graduate in
business economics from the Basle University of Applied Sciences (FHBB).
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Ms. Reddy is Director of the Blenheim Group of Trust, Insurance and Fund
Management Companies in the BVI. She has resided in the British Virgin
Islands since 1987, where she previously held the position of Managing Director of Barclays Private Bank and Trust (BVI) Limited and, prior to
that worked with Deloitte & Touche and Ansbacher (BVI) Limited. She holds
a degree in mathematics, operations research, statistics and economics
from Warwick University, Coventry, UK. Mrs. Reddy is a Fellow of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, a member of the Society of
Trust & Estate Practitioners and a member of the Institute of Directors.

Kay Reddy,
born 1961, British
Non-Executive Member
(since 1999)

Mr. Sucher has been working in the Russian Capital markets, and particularly
asset management, since 1993. He currently is an advisor and board member to several commercial and non-commercial organisations. From 2007
to 2010, Mr. Sucher was Russia Country Head for Bank of America Merrill
Lynch in Moscow. From 2002 to 2006 he was Chairman of the Board at
Alfa Capital, and prior to that, was Co-Founder and Managing Director of
Troika Dialog from 1993 to 2002. He began his career in 1984, working
for E.F.Hutton, Cresvale and Goldman Sachs. Mr. Sucher holds a BA from
the University of Michigan and is a graduate of Columbia University’s Senior
Executive Program.

Bernard Sucher,
born 1960, American
Non-Executive Member
since June 2011)

Mr. Rubinski is Chairman of the Board of Directors of Far East Shipping
Company, a leading Russian integrated transport and logistics company. He
previously worked for Marsh and MacLennan Group responsible for structured ﬁnance in Russia and the CIS countries. From 1992 to 2000 he was
with Credit Lyonnais’s project ﬁnance and investment banking division. From
2005 to 2008 he was a Member of the Board of Directors of Russian Alcohol. Mr. Rubinski is a founding partner of Industrial Investors, where he has
worked as First Vice President since 2003. He joined the Board of Directors
of Far-Eastern Shipping Plc. in 2004. Mr. Rubinski holds degrees from the
Moscow State Institute of International Relations (MGIMO) and from the High
School of Commerce in Paris (ESCP-EAP).

Kirill Rubinski,
born 1968, Russian
Non-Executive Member
(since June 2011)

22 MANAGEMENT REPORT

DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

Terry Olin
American

Terry Olin is responsible for corporate operations and corporate ﬁnance at
EPH. He has nineteen years of Russian investment experience, of which eight
years were spent living and working in Moscow. Mr. Olin is a Managing Director at Valartis Asset Management SA. Prior to joining Valartis Group in 2002,
he was a partner at Brunswick Emerging Markets in Stockholm, Sweden,
responsible for emerging European markets, and before joining Brunswick
was a director at Russian investment bank Troika Dialog in Moscow. He was
a member of the Management Board of the European Public Real Estate
Association (EPRA) from 2007 until 2010. Mr. Olin has been involved with
EPH since inception and a member of the Management Committee since
2005. He has a BA from North Dakota State University.

Alexander Nikolaev
Russian

Alexander Nikolaev is responsible for execution of the company’s projects
and acquisitions, and management of the Russia-based project management and property operations team. Mr. Nikolaev is Managing Director of
Valartis Group’s Russia and CIS operations. After graduating from Moscow
State Institute of International Relations (MGIMO) with a degree in international law, he was Head of Russia and CIS operations for Smith Management
LLC, a U.S. private investment corporation. He has over seventeen years of
experience in real estate development, and managing investments in private
and public equity. Mr. Nikolaev has been involved with EPH since inception
and a member of the Management Committee since 2004.

Yulia Makhinova
Russian

Yulia Makhinova is responsible for accounting and ﬁnancial review, and
ﬁnancial reporting for the Company’s subsidiaries. Ms. Makhinova is Chief
Financial Ofﬁcer in the Moscow ofﬁce of Valartis Group. She began her career
as a tax adviser with PricewaterhouseCoopers in Moscow. Prior to joining
Valartis Group she was Chief Accountant at the Moscow ofﬁce of Skanska
East Europe. Ms. Makhinova is a graduate of the Financial Academy under
the government of the Russian Federation and a Chartered Public Accountant.
Ms. Makhinova joined the EPH team in 2005 and the Management Committee in 2006.
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Andrey Zarechensky is responsible for project management and technical
management of EPH’s development activities and properties. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Zarechensky accumulated more than 20 years of experience in his ﬁeld. Prior to joining the EPH Management Committee in 2006 he
worked in a senior role at British Petroleum. He is a graduate of the Moscow
Aviation University (National Research University) with a degree in mechanical engineering.

Andrey Zarechensky
Russian

Medina Dietz is responsible for property operations, commercialisation and
tenant relations. She has over seventeen years of construction and real estate
management experience in Russia. Prior to joining Valartis Group in 2004,
Ms. Dietz was a Moscow-based member of the management team of West
GkA, a division of WestLB focused on commercial real estate. Before joining
West GkA, she was with Austrian construction company Wohnreform, and
prior to that with Maculan International. Ms. Dietz has been with EPH since
2004 and a member of the Management Committee since 2006. She is
a graduate of the State Gnessins College of the Ministry of Culture of Russia.

Medina Dietz
Austrian
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ARBAT 1 AND 2

MOSCOW
COMBINED

38500
SQM GBA
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ARBAT 1 AND ARBAT 2
MOSCOW
The Company owns 60% of the mixed-use developments in the historic Arbat
district in Moscow. The ﬁrst, more advanced of the two projects, consists of
approximately 27,000 sqm Gross Building Area. This will be split between a
theatre, retail space on the lower ﬂoors and appartments on the upper ﬂoors.
Completion of the project is expected in the third quarter of 2013. Ground
breaking for the second project took place in the last quarter of 2012, with an
expected completion period of 24 months. It will consist of retail and appartment space of approximately 11,500 sgm Gross Building Area,
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GROUP STRUCTURE &
SHAREHOLDERS

The Corporate Governance of Eastern Property Holdings Limited (“EPH”) is
based on the Corporate Governance Guidelines of the SIX Swiss Exchange
that entered into force on 1 July 2002 and were updated on 1 July 2009.
1. GROUP STRUCTURE AND SHAREHOLDERS
1.1 GROUP STRUCTURE
Eastern Property Holdings Limited (“EPH”, the “Company”) operates as a
holding company which owns its assets directly, through subsidiaries, and
through joint venture companies. An organisational chart showing the Company’s subsidiaries and otherwise afﬁliated companies, percentage ownership, and domiciliation can be found on page xx of the Annual Report. None
of the Company’s subsidiaries or holdings are listed companies.
A description of the Company’s operating structure, in particular the business segments forming the basis for management’s decision-making is
found in Note 6 “Segment Information” to the Financial Statements.
Management of the Company is provided by Valartis International Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of Valartis Group AG. Details of the management
contract are found in Section 4.

The Company’s registered ofﬁce is located at:
Eastern Property Holdings Ltd.
c / o Blenheim Trust (BVI) Limited,
R.G. Hodge Plaza, Wickhams Cay 1
P.O. Box 3483, Road Town, Tortola,
British Virgin Islands VG1110
Shares of EPH are traded on the SIX Swiss Exchange.
As of 31 December 2012, the Company’s market capitalisation was US$
123.18 million.
Symbol: EPH
Swiss security number 1673866
ISIN number VGG290991014
Signiﬁcant group companies consolidated into the ﬁnancial statements of
the Company are:
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Full company name

Registered ofﬁce

Issued Share Capital

Ownership %

Bluestone Investments Limited

Koumandarias & Spyrou Araouzou,
7th Floor, Tonia Court, 3036,
Limassol, Cyprus

EPH holds 50% Class A shares and 100%
EUR 21,375 (10,000 Class A shares,
par EUR 1.71, non-voting 2,500 Class B Class B shares
shares, par EUR 1.71)

Geneva House, LLC

5 Petrovka St.,
Moscow, 107031 Russia

RUB 10,000

99.85% held by Bluestone Investments
Limited, 0.075% held by Whiterock
Investments Limited, 0.075% held by
Vincennes Estates Limited

Investment Company ("IC")
INTRUSTCOM, CJSC

8a Oktyabrskaya St., Korolyov,
Moscow Region, 141070 Russia

RUB 500,000 (100 ordinary
shares, par RUB 5,000)

100% held by Geneva House LLC

IC Otdelstroy, CJSC

29.2 Shabolovka St.,
Moscow 115162 Russia

RUB 10,000 (1,000 ordinary
shares, par RUB 10)

100% held by Geneva House LLC

Housefar Limited

Koumandarias & Spyrou Araouzou,
7th Floor, Tonia Court, 3036,
Limassol, Cyprus

EUR 3,420 (1,000 ordinary shares,
par EUR 1.71, 1000 non-voting
preferred shares, par EUR 1.71)

EPH holds 100% of ordinary shares and
85% of preference shares

Inspetsstroy, LLC

11/2 bldg.1, 1st Magistralnaya St., RUB 50
Moscow, 123290 Russia

Idelisa Limited

Koumandarias & Spyrou Araouzou,
7th Floor, Tonia Court, 3036,
Limassol, Cyprus

EUR 2,000 (2,000 ordinary
shares, par EUR 1.00)

100% held by EPH

Redhill Investment Limited

Koumandarias & Spyrou Araouzou,
7th Floor, Tonia Court, 3036,
Limassol, Cyprus

EUR 8,550 (5,000 ordinary
shares, par EUR 1.71)

100% held by EPH

Romsay Properties Limited

Koumandarias & Spyrou Araouzou,
7th Floor, Tonia Court, 3036,
Limassol, Cyprus

EUR 1,710 (999 Class A shares,
par EUR 1.71, and 1 Class B share,
par EUR 1.71)

100% of Class A shares / 99.9% of
all shares held by EPH

Petrovsky fort, LLC

4 liter A, Finlyandsky Pr.,
St. Petersburg, 194044 Russia

RUB 18,000

100% held by Romsay Properties Limited

Silverlake Limited

Koumandarias & Spyrou Araouzou,
7th Floor, Tonia Court, 3036,
Limassol, Cyprus

EUR 2,000 (2,000 ordinary
shares, par EUR 1.00)

100% held by EPH

Stainﬁeld Limited

Koumandarias & Spyrou Araouzou,
7th Floor, Tonia Court, 3036,
Limassol, Cyprus

EUR 2,000 (2,000 ordinary
shares, par EUR 1.00)

100% held by EPH

Vakhtangov Place Limited

Koumandarias & Spyrou Araouzou,
7th Floor, Tonia Court, 3036,
Limassol, Cyprus

EUR 12,500 (10,000 Class A shares,
par EUR 1.00, 2,500 non-voting
Class B shares, par EUR 1.00)

EPH holds 50% Class A shares
and 100% Class B shares

Whiterock Investments Limited

Koumandarias & Spyrou Araouzou,
7th Floor, Tonia Court, 3036,
Limassol, Cyprus

EUR 2,000 (2,000 ordinary
shares, par EUR 1.00)

100% held by EPH

100% held by Housefar Limited
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MCT Global Opportunities Fund, which is managed by Valartis International
Limited, held 100,000 shares, equaling 2.35% of the shares outstanding,
which were sold to the Aurora Value Fund on 19 December 2012.
A company afﬁliated with Serge de Pahlen, who was a board member until
June 2012, owned 416,000 shares, equaling 9.76% of the shares outstanding until 19 December 2012 when it sold these to the Aurora Value Fund.
On 2 March 2012, the Company was informed by Red Square Equity Fund,
and companies afﬁliated with it, that it holds in excess of 5% of the Company’s shares in issue, which equates to over 6.26% of shares outstanding.
The Company was notiﬁed that as of the close of business on 28 June 2012,
the stake in the Company held by Storm Real Estate ASA through its subsidiary Tiberton Yard Ltd. has been reduced to below 5%, and on 9 July 2012
the Company was informed of a further reduction of the stake held in the
Company to below 3%.
1.2 SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDERS
On 31 December 2012, the Company had 5,338,132 shares in issue, of
which 4,262,613 shares were outstanding and had voting rights.
On 31 December 2012, CAIAC Fund Management AG’s Aurora Value Fund
held 2,843,163 shares in the Company, equalling 66.7% of shares outstanding.
On 31 December 2012, Mark Eberle held 171,064 shares in the Company,
representing 4.0% of shares outstanding.
Through most of 2012 Valartis Group AG directly, and through wholly owned
subsidiaries was the largest shareholder in the Company owning approximately 38% of shares outstanding on 19 December 2012.
Valartis Group AG directly and through wholly-owned subsidiaries, held
1,125,770 shares, equaling 26.41% of the shares outstanding, which were
sold to the Aurora Value Fund on 19 December 2012.
ENR Private Equity Ltd held 272,000 shares and ENR Investment Ltd held
221,000 shares, and both sold their shares to the Aurora Value Fund on 19
December 2012. Both companies are majority-owned by Valartis Group, and
owned 6.38% and 5.18%, respectively, of the shares outstanding.

The Company was notiﬁed that as per the close of business of 19 December
2012 each of the stakes of Valartis Group AG and afﬁliated companies, of
Red Square Equity Fund and afﬁliated companies and of entities afﬁliated
with Mr. de Pahlen have been reduced to below 3%. At the same time, the
Company has been notiﬁed that CAIAC Fund Management AG’s Aurora Value
Fund has acquired more then 66.2/3% of the voting shares. This equals
more than 50% of the shares in issue.
When informed by shareholders that their ownership stakes have exceeded
or fallen below the levels of 3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 33%, 50% or
66% of shares in issue, the Company publishes the disclosure in a press
release. Historical press releases can be found on the Company’s website at
http://easternpropertyholdings.com/news
No additional disclosures from signiﬁcant shareholders have been made during the period under review.
EPH is not domiciled in Switzerland, so shareholders are not subject to the
disclosure obligations of article 20 of the Stock Exchange Act (SESTA), thus
it is possible that other signiﬁcant holdings exist but the Company has not
been notiﬁed.
1.3 CROSS-SHAREHOLDINGS
There are no cross-shareholdings.
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2. CAPITAL STRUCTURE
2.1 CAPITAL
Art. 5 of the Company’s Memorandum of Association, as amended by the
resolutions passed at the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting of 29 June
2004, 19 November 2004 and 7 March 2005, and the General Meeting
of Members of 16 May 2006, 3 May 2007 and 24 June 2008 provides for
an authorised capital which entitles the Board of Directors to issue a total
of 9,000,000 registered ordinary shares without par value and 1,000,000
registered Series A preferred shares without par value.
As of 31 December 2012, the Company’s issued share capital consists of
5,338,132 Ordinary Shares.
Note 24 “Shareholders’ Equity” to the Company’s Financial Statements contains a detailed description of the Company’s capital structure.

2.2 AUTHORISED AND CONDITIONAL CAPITAL
2.2.1 Authorised share capital
A change in the Company’s authorised capital must be approved by a resolution passed by the General Meeting of Members.
The status of the authorised capital is detailed in Note 24 to the Company’s
Financial Statements.
2.2.2 Conditional share capital
The Company’s Articles do not foresee a conditional capital, so a capital
increase by the exercise of options or conversion of rights must also be
covered by the authorised capital.

2.3 CHANGES IN CAPITAL
Number of ordinary shares
Authorised
Issued
Treasury shares
Issued and outstanding

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

31.12.2010

9,000,000
5,338,132
1,075,519
4,262,613

9,000,000
5,338,132
1,075,519
4,262,613

9,000,000
5,338,132
1,075,519
4,262,613

CAPITAL STRUCTURE &
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3. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
3.1 MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Members of the Company’s board of directors are designated as Executive
or Non-executive.

2.4 SHARES AND PARTICIPATION CERTIFICATES
Number of shares in issue
5,338,132 ordinary shares
Share category
Registered shares
Par value
No par value
Except when held by the Company as Treasury Shares, each Ordinary Share
has one vote, and is entitled to dividends.
Series A Preferred Shares have equal economic and dividend rights to Ordinary Shares, but do not have voting rights. Any such shares in issue at the
time of a capital increase of over 10% of the Company’s shares outstanding
would automatically be converted to Ordinary Shares on a one-for-one basis.
No Series A Preferred Shares are in issue as of 31 December 2012.
The Company has no participation certiﬁcates.
2.5 DIVIDEND-RIGHT CERTIFICATES
The Company has no dividend-right certiﬁcates.
2.6 LIMITATIONS ON TRANSFERABILITY AND NOMINEE REGISTRATIONS
There are no limitations on transferability of Ordinary shares or the registration of nominee shareholders in the register.
Series A Preferred shares can only be transferred with the prior written consent of the Company.
2.7 CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND OPTIONS
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have outstanding convertible
bonds and or options in issue.

Board members who are also ofﬁcers or employees of Valartis Group, which
through Valartis International Ltd. provides the Company’s management, are
designated as Executive Board members. Due to their position within Valartis
Group, they may be informed of, or involved in, Company matters which are
not necessarily board matters and may not involve the full Board of Directors.
The Company’s Executive Board Members do not have operational management roles for the Company or its subsidiaries.
The other board members are designated as Non-Executive Board Members.
None of the Company’s Non-Executive Board Members have signiﬁcant business connections with, or have served in other roles within, the Company, its
subsidiaries or afﬁliated companies, or Valartis Group at any time in the past.
Composition of the Board of Directors as of 31 December 2012, and biographies of the board members can be found in the Directors and Management
section of the Annual Report, starting on page 20.
3.2 OTHER ACTIVITIES AND VESTED INTERESTS
None of the Company’s board members serve in governing or supervisory
bodies with relevance to the Company, nor do they represent Swiss or foreign
interest groups. None of the Company’s board members hold political posts
or serve ofﬁcial governmental or regulatory functions.
3.3 ELECTIONS AND TERMS OF OFFICE
The board members are elected individually by the General Meeting of
Shareholders. Until 2011, election was for an undeﬁned term. At the Company’s General Meeting of Shareholders in June 2011, the Articles of Association were amended to set a maximum term of three years. Upon expiration
of a Director’s term, re-election is allowed. The terms of all board members
who were serving on the board at the time of the amendment, as well as the
board members elected at the 2011 annual meeting will expire at the 2014
general meeting of shareholders.
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Day to day management has been delegated to Valartis International Ltd.
(“Valartis Intl”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Valartis Group AG. On a dayto-day basis, Valartis Intl manages the Company’s real estate business, in
particular the management and supervision of the Company’s properties,
development projects, and other assets. Valartis Intl also manages all ﬁnancing activities, the search for and identiﬁcation of new investments, and the
Company’s operations and reporting. Valartis Intl appoints and provides the
Company’s Management Committee.

3.4 INTERNAL ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
3.4.1 Allocation of tasks within the board of directors.
As of 31 December 2012, the board has not formed any committees and
speciﬁc tasks have not been allocated to individual board members.
3.4.2 Members list, tasks and area of responsibility for each committee of
the board of directors
No committees have been formed.
3.4.3 Work methods of the Board of Directors
Board meetings take place as often as business requires, though generally
four times per year, at such place as the directors shall decide. Meetings
may also take place by conference call. Duration of the meetings depends
on the list of items on the agenda, and is generally between two and ﬁve
hours. Board meetings are attended by Management Committee members,
who brief the board with regards to Company developments within their area
of responsibility.
The Board of Directors met three times in 2012.
3.5 DEFINITION OF AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY
The Board of Directors is responsible for the business affairs of the Company
in accordance with the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association.
The main function of the Board of Directors is the supervision of the Company’s management and investments. The Board of Directors has ultimate
responsibility for the issue of the necessary directives and regulations and
approval of the investment strategy as laid down in the Investment Guidelines.
As the Company’s Investment Guidelines foresee that all investments above
US$ 10 million must be approved by the Board of Directors, all signiﬁcant
investment proposals are discussed on the Board level.

The Management Committee is responsible for the management of the Company’s business activities, except for the duties incumbent upon the Board of
Directors. The Management Committee decides in particular on the business
development and implementation of the Company’s strategy and its results
in accordance with the Investment Guidelines of the Company.
The Management Committee informs the Board of Directors on a regular
basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities, new investment targets and
development of investments and operations.
3.6 INFORMATION AND CONTROL INSTRUMENTS
EPH’s Board of Directors monitors the competencies transferred to Valartis
Intl, which is represented by the Management Committee. At each meeting
of the Board of Directors, the Management Committee presents management accounts for each Group company, and reports on the status of each
asset. A detailed budget is presented at each meeting, and when actual
results have deviated from the budget reviewed at the previous meeting,
details are provided as to the cause of the deviation. The Management Committee reports on key risks the Company faces, such as the status of project
rights, excessive vacancy or tenant delinquencies in rental properties, or that
cash ﬂows may not meet development or operational budgets. The Board of
Directors may also ask the Management Committee to engage third parties
to review transactions and results at any time.
Valartis Asset Management SA, under a separate Real Estate Advisory Contract, serves a control function on both the Company and asset level. Valartis
Asset Management employees with speciﬁc real estate expertise, but who
are not members of the Management Committee or responsible for day to
day operations at the Company, make physical visits to the Company’s assets
and review contracts and cash ﬂows on, at a minimum, a quarterly basis.
The Head of Real Estate at Valartis Asset Management reports ﬁndings to
the Chairman of the Board of Directors. Payments made to Valartis Asset
Management under this contract are subtracted from amounts payable to
Valartis Intl, and do not increase the overall fees charged to the Company
by Valartis Group.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
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4. MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
4.1 MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
In accordance with the Real Estate Management Agreement between the
Company and Valartis Intl, the Management Committee is composed of Valartis Group employees. Management Committee members are not members
of the Company’s Board of Directors.
Composition of the Management Committee as of 31 December 2012, and
biographies of the committee members can be found in the Directors and
Management section of the Annual Report, starting on page 22.
4.2 OTHER ACTIVITIES AND VESTED INTERESTS
None of the members of the Management Committee serve in governing
or supervisory bodies with relevance to the Company, nor do they represent Swiss or foreign interest groups. None of the Management Committee
members hold political posts or serve ofﬁcial governmental or regulatory
functions.
4.3 MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
The Real Estate Management Agreement (the “Agreement”) entered into
on 15 September 2003 appointed Eastern Property Management Limited
(“EPML”), a 100% owned Valartis Group AG subsidiary, as discretionary manager of all activities of the Company. Effective 31 December 2009, EPML
merged with Valartis Intl, also a wholly-owned Valartis Group AG subsidiary.
As successor company, Valartis Intl became party to the existing Agreement.
Valartis Intl maintains representative ofﬁces in Moscow and St. Petersburg,
where it employees managerial, technical and ﬁnancial staff for the operations of the Company.
The Agreement has been concluded for an indeﬁnite period of time. It may
be terminated with thirty days written notice prior to the end of any calendar
quarter. In the event of its termination by the Company, other than on the
grounds of gross negligence or willful misconduct, the Manager will be entitled to material compensation of an amount equal to three times the total
fees paid to the Manager for the preceding business year.
Under the terms of the Agreement, Valartis Intl is entitled to a Management
Fee of 2% of the Company’s adjusted Net Asset Value, payable quarterly
in arrears. The adjustment to the Net Asset Value relates to an addition of
the nominal amount of all outstanding debt convertible into shares of the
Company, if any.
The Management Fee includes the remuneration of the Management Committee. Costs not included in the Management Fee are costs of third parties,

out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Manager in carrying out the investigative and due diligence analysis required in pursuing likely investment
opportunities, in negotiating, signing and closing investment contracts, and
in monitoring or managing existing investments, and costs relating to the
general administration of the Company, which is provided by the company
secretary and administrator.
The Manager is entitled to receive a Performance Fee equal to 15% of the
value appreciation of the Company’s properties and property developments
based on the valuation underlying the audited annual ﬁnancial statements
of the Company in accordance with IFRS, provided that the value of an appreciated asset exceeds its original level, and the per share Net Asset Value
of the company is not lower than it was when the last performance fee was
paid (high water mark).
While the Performance Fee is provisioned on an ongoing basis, it becomes
payable only if the increased value of an asset has been realised (in whole or
in part) through a sale, partial sale, reﬁnancing or a similar transaction, and
then only the Performance Fee generated by the asset which has been sold
or reﬁnanced will be paid. The amount provisioned for Performance Fees
is reﬂected in the Company’s Balance sheet at each reporting period as a
Provision for Long-term Liabilities and Charges.
On 1 October 2007, Petrovsky Fort LLC, which owns Petrovsky Fort in St.
Petersburg, entered into a Property Management Agreement with the St. Petersburg branch of Valartis Intl. On 1 November 2007, Connecta GmbH & Co.
KG, which owns Berlin House in Moscow, entered into a similar agreement
with the Moscow branch of Valartis Intl. EPH One LLC, which owns Geneva
House in Moscow, entered into a similar agreement with the Moscow branch
of Valartis Intl. on 15 July 2010.
On 1 January 2010, the Company concluded the Real Estate Advisory Agreement with Valartis Asset Management SA, also a wholly owned Valartis Group
AG subsidiary, under which the Company is invoiced on the basis of time
spent on Company matters by Valartis Asset Management staff. Fees paid
under this contract are subtracted from the amount payable under the Real
Estate Management Agreement so the total amount of Management Fees
paid will not, in any case, exceed 2%.
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The Board of Directors has set annual compensation for Non-Executive
Board Members, effective 21 June 2011 at a ﬁxed US$ 100,000 per year,
payable quarterly in arrears. In deciding on the level of compensation, the
board considered compensation paid to directors of other companies active
in Russia, and Russian companies in particular. The current compensation
level will remain in effect until the board votes to amend it.
There are no shareholding or bonus programs in place.
5.2 TRANSPARENCY OF COMPENSATION, SHAREHOLDINGS AND LOANS
The Company does not grant loans to members of the Board of Directors or
Management Committee.

5. COMPENSATIONS, SHAREHOLDINGS AND LOANS
5.1 CONTENT AND METHOD OF DETERMINING THE COMPENSATION AND
SHAREHOLDING PROGRAMS
Management of the Company is provided by Valartis Group which is compensated as described in section 4.3 “Management contracts”. See Note 26 to
the Company’s ﬁnancial statements for additional details.
No additional compensation is paid by the Company to Members of the Management Committee.
Executive Board Members are not compensated by the Company for serving
on the Board of Directors.
Non-Executive Board Members are compensated for serving on the Board
of Directors.
The level and terms of compensation for non-executive board members are
decided upon by the full Board of Directors.

The members of the Company’s Board of Directors and Management Committee and parties closely linked to them held 2,391,934 shares in the Company on 19 December 2012.
Gustav Stenbolt, Chairman of the Board of Directors, and parties closely
linked to him held 1,735,270 shares in the Company on 19 December 2012.
Parties closely linked to Serge de Pahlen, who was a member of the Company’s Board of Directors until 8 June 2012, held 416,000 shares in the
Company on 19 December 2012.
Parties closely linked to Management Committee member Alexander
Nikolaev held 238,164 shares in the Company on 19 December 2012.
The members of the Company’s Board of Directors and Management Committee and parties closely linked to them held 4,000 shares in the Company on 31 December 2012. Valartis International, a wholly owned Valartis
Group AG subsidiary, held 1,500 shares in the Company.Terry Olin, member
of the Management Committee, held 2,500 shares in the Company on
31 December 2012.

SHAREHOLDERS’
PARTICIPATION
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6. SHAREHOLDERS’ PARTICIPATION
6.1 VOTING-RIGHTS AND REPRESENTATION RESTRICTIONS
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to one vote per share. According to article
4.4 of the Memorandum and Articles of Association, treasury shares do not
confer the right to vote.
There are no voting restrictions or limitations, however, in order to exercise
their voting right, or participate in the shareholders meeting, shareholders
must be entered into the shareholder register. The shareholder register is
maintained and administered by SIX SAG Ltd. Baslerstrasse 90, CH-4601
Olten.
A Shareholder may either represent his shares in person at a meeting of
Shareholders, or be represented by a proxy who may speak and vote on
behalf of the Shareholder. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be produced at the place designated for the meeting before the time for holding
the meeting at which the person named in such instrument proposes to vote.
The notice of the meeting may specify an alternative or additional place or
time at which the proxy shall be presented.
6.2 STATUTORY QUORUMS
A meeting of Shareholders is duly constituted if, at the commencement of
the meeting, there are present in person or by proxy not less than 10 percent
of the votes of the shares entitled to vote on resolutions of Shareholders
to be considered at the meeting.
Matters are decided by a simple majority of votes, except that approval of
at least two thirds of the votes of the holders of the Ordinary Shares that
were present at the meeting and entitled to vote and were voted and did not
abstain is required for:
1. Change of the purpose of the Company
2. The dissolution of the Company followed by liquidation

6.3 CONVOCATION OF THE GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
As per the Company’s Articles of Association, the annual General Meeting of
Shareholders is held in London, UK.
Notice of the meeting must be given at least 20 days prior to the meeting
date.
The notice will be sent to shareholders whose names appear in the shareholder register on the date the notice is given. The notice speciﬁes the place,
the date and hour of the meeting and includes the agenda for the meeting.
Extraordinary shareholders’ meetings may be called by any director of the
Company as well as upon written request of members holding more than
10% of the votes of the outstanding Ordinary Shares and shall also be held
in London, UK.
6.4 INCLUSION OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA
Shareholders holding more than 10% of the vote of the outstanding shares
in the Company may request in writing that additional items are added to the
proposed agenda.
6.5 INSCRIPTIONS INTO THE SHARE REGISTER
The deadline for the inscription of registered shares into the shareholders’
register in view of their participation in the general meeting of shareholders
is 20 days prior to the day of the meeting.
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CHANGES OF CONTROL
AND DEFENSE MEASURES
& AUDITING BODY

8. AUDITING BODY
8.1 DURATION OF THE MANDATE AND TERM OF OFFICE OF THE LEAD AUDITOR
The Company’s auditor is appointed each year at the general meeting of
shareholders.
7. CHANGES OF CONTROL AND DEFENSE MEASURES
7.1 DUTY TO MAKE AN OFFER
As a foreign entity, the Company is not regulated by Articles 22 or 32 SESTA.
The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association do not provide for
rules on take-over. As such, there is no threshold level at which a major
shareholder is required to make a full tender offer for the Company.
7.2 CLAUSES ON CHANGES OF CONTROL
Neither the Company’s Articles, nor existing agreements between the Company and Valartis Group or the Company and its joint venture partners include clauses beneﬁtting members of the Board of Directors, Management
Committee, or Valartis Group in case of a change of control.
Obligation to announce signiﬁcant shareholdings
Pursuant to Article 7.6 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
as amended at the 2011 Annual Shareholders Meeting on 21 June 2011,
a shareholder must notify the Company of the percentage of its shares outstanding he holds, directly or indirectly, if such aggregate ownership reaches, exceeds or falls below 3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 33%, 50% or
66% as a result of an acquisition or disposal of shares or any other form of
ﬁnancial instrument or derivative which results in an entitlement to acquire,
on such Shareholder’s own initiative alone, shares of the Company.
The reporting levels are based on the total number of shares in issue, with
no adjustment for treasury shares.
If it shall come to the notice of the directors that any shareholder has not,
within the requisite period, made any notiﬁcation required by Regulation 7.6,
the Company may (at the absolute discretion of the directors) rescind the
shareholder’s right to attend shareholder’s meetings or vote the affected
shares for up to ﬁve (5) years.

Ernst & Young AG, Zurich has been the appointed auditor of the Company
since 2010. The lead auditor since 2010 is Mr. Cataldo Castagna.
PricewaterhouseCoopers SA was the statutory auditor of the Company from
2004 until 2009.
8.2 AUDITING FEES
Fees paid to Ernst & Young, which include services of both the Zurich and
Moscow ofﬁces, for audit of the Company’s 31 December 2011 ﬁnancial
statements, and audit-related work, totaled US$ 348,391.
Fees paid or to be paid to the same Ernst & Young ofﬁces for audit of the
Company’s 31 December 2012 ﬁnancial statements are estimated at US$
340,100.
Ernst & Young is remunerated only on the basis of time spent.
8.3 ADDITIONAL FEES
The total fees charged to the Company in the year under review by Ernst &
Young AG and its related parties for additional services are as follows:
Review of the 30 June 2012 interim ﬁnancial statements: US$ 235,555.
8.4 INFORMATIONAL INSTRUMENTS PERTAINING TO AN EXTERNAL AUDIT
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the supervision and
control of the external audit. The lead auditor communicates with the Chairman of the Board of Directors during the course of the audit, and prior to
board approval of the Company’s audited ﬁnancial statements, the lead auditor presents the ﬁndings of the audit process to the full Board of Directors
and addresses any questions or concerns. The audit opinion is signed only
after the board has formally approved the annual ﬁnancial statements.

INFORMATION POLICY
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9. INFORMATION POLICY
Audited reports are published on an annual basis per 31 December. In
addition, the Company publishes unaudited interim ﬁnancial information per
each 30 June.
Interested parties can request that all press releases and other communications from the Company be sent to their email address by visiting
www.easternpropertyholdings.com/newsletter/
Printed ﬁnancial statements can be requested in writing free of charge from
the following address:
Eastern Property Holdings Limited
Investor Relations
c / o Valartis Asset Management SA
2–4 Place du Molard
1204 Geneva, Switzerland
Phone:
+41 22 716 10 00
Fax:
+41 22 716 10 01
All historical ﬁnancial statements and press releases, and the Company’s
Article of Association and Investment Guidelines are available on the Company’s website www.easternpropertyholdings.com.

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
– On 17 January 2013 the Company was informed that Markus Eberle
holds more than 5% of the Company’s shares in issue.
– As of 31 January 2013 Terry Olin has left the Company’s Management
Committee, concurrent with his departure from Valartis Asset Management.
– On 18 March 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors decided to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting at the request of Aurora Value
Fund.
– On 21 March 2013, details for the Extraordinary General Meeting were
published. The EGM will be held on 15 April 2013 in London. The Agenda, which can be found in the “news” section of the Company’s website,
www.easternpropertyholdings.com, contains the proposal
– to elect new board members
– to make certain amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association, and
– to increase the authorised capital.
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ORGANISATIONAL CHART

Eastern Property Holdings Ltd.
(BVI)

Connecta GmbH
(Germany) 1)
10%

Connecta KG
(Germany) 2)
10%

EPP II LP (Cayman)
100%

Cyprus

Vestive Ltd.
50%

Housefar Ltd.
100% 3)

EPH Real Estate Ltd.
10%

Bluestone
Investments Ltd.
60%

Vakhtangov
Place Ltd.
60%

Russia
Geneva House LLC
100%

Inkonika LLC
100%

1)

Inspetsstroy LLC
100%

EPH One LLC
100%

Connecta Beratungsgesellschaft im Ost-West Wirtschaftsverkehr mbH
Connecta Beratungsgesellschaft im Ost-West Wirtschaftsverkehr mbH & Co Erste Grundstücks KG
3)
Ordinary Shares
2)

Intrustcom CJSC
100%

Otdelstroy CJSC
100%
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Valartis Int. Ltd. (BVI)
0.1%

Sarnatus Trading Ltd.
(Cyprus)
10%

Whiterock
Investments Ltd.
100%

Idelisa Ltd.
100%

Silverlake Ltd.
100%

Hypercenter
Investment SA (Lux)
25.9%

Redhill
Investment Ltd.
100%

Stainﬁeld Ltd.
100%

Romsay Properties Ltd.
99.9%

Petrovsky fort LLC
100%

Alliance Service LLC
100%

Turgenevskaya Parking
Ltd.
100%

PETROVSKY FORT

ST.PETERSBURG

15300
SQM OFFICE SPACE

PETROVSKY FORT
ST.PETERSBURG
Petrovsky Fort is a 47,600 square meter Class B+ ofﬁce and retail property
located at Finlyandsky Prospect 4 in central St. Petersburg. The building has
nine ofﬁce and two retail levels and a large central atrium. Of the net rentable space, approximately 15,300 square meters are designated for ofﬁce
use and about 5,800 square meters as retail space. The building has an
underground parking facility with 118 parking spaces and an above-ground
car park with 36 parking spaces.
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Jones Lang LaSalle LLC has been instructed to prepare valuation reports
regarding the following properties:
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Parking on Turgenevskaya (Moscow)
Parking development on Khokhlovkaya (Moscow)
Magistral’naya ofﬁce building (Moscow)
Arbat 24 development (Moscow)
Arbat 39 development (Moscow)
Scandinavia land plot (Leningrad Oblast)
Petrovsky Fort ofﬁce building (St Petersburg)
Geneva House ofﬁce building (Moscow)
Berlin House ofﬁce building (Moscow)

We understand that the reports are required for accounting purposes. The
date of valuation is 30 November 2012.
Our valuation has been carried out in compliance with the requirements of
2012 edition of the RICS Valuation – Professional Standards.
Market Value is deﬁned by the RICS Valuation Standards as “The estimated
amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction
after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably,
prudently and without compulsion.”

In addition, our calculations have been carried out and are presented exclusive of VAT. Our reports summarise our key assumptions, estimations and
conclusions used in arriving at our opinion of Market Value. The purpose of
the reports is to present the basic facts and conclusions adopted in relation
to the properties in arriving at our opinions.
Finally, and in accordance with our normal practice, we conﬁrm that the
reports are conﬁdential to the party to whom they are addressed for the speciﬁc purpose to which they refer. No responsibility whatsoever is accepted to
any third party and neither the whole of the reports, nor any parts, nor references thereto, may be published in any document, statement or circular, nor
in any communication with third parties without our prior written approval of
the form and context in which it will appear.
Yours faithfully

Christopher Dryden BLE MA MRICS
Director
For and on behalf of Jones Lang LaSalle
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the General Meeting of
Eastern Property Holdings Limited
Tortola, British Virgin Islands

Zurich, 9 April 2013

Report of the independent auditor on the consolidated financial statements
As independent auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Eastern Property Holdings
Limited, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash flows, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and notes (pages 50 to 93), for the year ended 31 December 2012.
Management’s responsibility
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and article 17 of the Directive on Financial Reporting
(DFR) of the SIX Swiss Exchange.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The
Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control
system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 give a true and fair view
of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and comply with article 17 of the Directive on Financial Reporting (DFR) of the SIX Swiss
Exchange.

Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and
independence (article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

Ernst & Young Ltd

Cataldo Castagna

Philipp Bertschinger

Swiss Certified Accountant
(Auditor in charge)

Swiss Certified Accountant
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

in US$
Assets
Non-current assets
Investment properties
Investment in associates
Loans and receivables
Advance for land lease
Deferred tax assets
Furniture and equipment
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Cash & cash equivalents
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Assets under development
Accounts receivable
Loans and receivables
Advance payment
Prepaid taxes
Total current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Loans from banks
Provisions for long-term liabilities and charges
Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Loans from banks and others
Property tax
Financial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Provisions for current liabilities and charges
Total current liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Treasury shares
Share premium
Accumulated deﬁcit
Cumulative translation adjustment
Shareholders’ equity attributable to the holders of the Company
Total equity and liabilities
Net asset value per share
* The notes are an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements

Note *

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

7
10
11

126,257,951
16,708,524
75,696,950
1,831,812
2,014,943
2,405
222,512,585

117,803,658
10,472,709
50,464,039
1,719,171
1,200,282
1,356
181,661,215

9,882,146
19,642,622
95,179,891
402,063
1,093,346
389,511
488,720
127,078,299
349,590,884

20,798,029
56,011,682
76,615,089
1,249,884
812,807
582,516
368,537
156,438,544
338,099,759

32,650,000
12,858,017
3,793,806
49,301,823

34,450,000
12,632,414
3,535,770
50,618,184

8,231,826
2,231,846
107,603
824,427
27,079
11,422,781

6,387,805
3,053,282
112,157
1,381,414
25,660
10,960,318

22

12
9
8
11

13
14
15

13
9
14

24
24

414,418,955
414,418,955
– 30,050,173 – 30,050,173
–
74,761,596
– 91,144,441 – 177,832,991
– 4,358,061
– 4,776,130
288,866,280
276,521,257
349,590,884

338,099,759

67.77

64.87
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

in US$
Rental income
Gross rental income
Ground rents paid
Service charge income on principal basis
Service charge expenses on principal basis
Property operating expenses
Repair and maintenance costs
Non-income taxes
Net rental income
Administrative expenses
Accrual for performance fees
Management fees
Professional and administration fees
Salaries and social charges
Total administrative expenses
Other income / (expenses)
Interest income
Gain on increased ownership stake
Other income
Other expenses
Depreciation
Net foreign exchange gain / (loss)
Net other income / (expenses)

Note *

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

16
16
16
16
16
16
16
16

7,802,698
– 382,412
2,310,196
– 1,436,345
– 1,406,083
– 610,600
– 513,158
5,764,296

13,712,338
– 414,258
3,256,086
– 2,487,854
– 2,579,145
– 785,174
– 1,790,292
8,911,701

17

– 225,603
– 5,633,332
– 2,018,674
– 69,261
– 7,946,870

– 977,850
– 6,006,930
– 4,294,320
– 300,457
– 11,579,557

18
19

7,865,743
1,671,090
751,485
– 3,592,355
– 209
4,384,715
11,080,469

4,752,873
5,869,516
–
– 5,548,390
– 7,751
– 14,840,328
– 9,774,080

20

Valuation movements
Net gain from fair value adjustment on ﬁnancial investments
Net gain / (loss) from fair value adjustment on investment properties
Net valuation movements

9
7

783,835
3,000,584
3,784,419

1,255,520
– 11,990,393
– 10,734,873

Development property (impairment) / reverse of impairment

8

– 4,099,779

2,831,589

Net operating gain / (loss) before ﬁnance cost
Finance costs

21

8,582,535
– 3,031,404

– 20,345,220
– 6,915,096

Share of associates’ gain / (loss)

10

5,549,835

– 21,928,472

Net loss from sale of subsidiaries

31

–

– 2,310,566

Gain / (loss) before taxes
Income taxes

22

11,100,966
825,988

– 51,499,354
– 4,467,163

Net proﬁt / (loss) for the period

11,926,954

– 55,966,517

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company

11,926,954

– 55,966,517

2.80

– 13.13

Earnings per share for proﬁt attributable to equity holders of the Company during the period
Basic and diluted
* The notes are an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements

23
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Net proﬁt for the period
Net proﬁt / (loss) for the period

11,926,954

– 55,966,517

Other comprehensive gain for the year
Gain on currency translation differences
Total comprehensive gain / (loss) for the period

418,069
12,345,023

10,493,556
– 45,472,961

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company

12,345,023

– 45,472,961

* The notes are an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements

Note *

53

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOW

in US$
Cash ﬂows from operating activities
Net gain / (loss) for the period
Net foreign exchange (gain) / loss
Net unrealised (gain) / loss on investment properties
Development property impairment / (reverse of impairment)
Net unrealised gain on ﬁnancial investments
Depreciation
Interest income
Share of associates’ (gain) / loss
Finance costs
Net loss from sale of subsidiaries
Gain on increased ownership stake
Income taxes
Cash used in operations before movements in working capital

Note *

20
7
8
9
18
10
21
19
22

Increase / decrease in receivables and payables
Increase / (decrease) in payables and other current liabilities
Increase in other non-current liabilities
Decrease in receivables and other current assets
Additions in assets under development
Cash used in operations

8

Interest income received
Income tax paid
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash ﬂows from investing activities
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed
Sale of ﬁnancial instruments
Purchase of ﬁnancial instruments
Investments in investment properties
Loans granted to joint ventures
Loans granted to associates
Proceeds from loans
Net cash generated from investing activities

31

7

Cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing activities
Finance costs paid
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Dividends
Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities
Net change in cash & cash equivalents
Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Net loss from foreign currency translation
Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the period
* The notes are an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements

12

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

11,926,954
– 4,384,715
– 3,000,584
4,099,779
– 783,835
209
– 7,865,743
– 5,549,835
3,031,404
–
– 1,671,090
– 825,988
– 5,023,444

– 55,966,517
14,840,328
11,990,393
– 2,831,589
– 1,255,520
7,751
– 4,752,873
21,928,472
6,915,096
2,310,565
– 5,885,145
4,467,163
– 8,231,876

1,840,886
477,991
931,970

– 18,539,715
3,021,294
1,573,144

– 23,955,395
– 25,727,992

– 7,208,319
– 29,385,471

2,316,039
–
– 23,411,953

383,269
–
– 29,002,202

–
79,284,044
– 43,198,632
– 4,157,247
– 16,774,789
– 3,969,687
977,447
12,161,136

77,052,466
6,980,519
– 63,174,506
– 3,416,793
– 11,820,782
– 7,523,515
50,295,105
48,392,495

– 3,042,585
–
– 1,750,000
–
– 4,792,585

– 6,539,841
40,000,000
– 19,843,180
– 21,312,965
– 7,695,986

– 16,043,402
20,798,029
5,127,519
9,882,146

11,694,308
9,621,767
– 518,046
20,798,029
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

Ordinary
share
capital

Treasury
shares

Balance as at 01.01.2011
Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive (loss) / gain for the period
Acquisition during the period
Dividend
Balance as at 31.12.2011

414,418,955
–
–
–
–
–
414,418,955

– 30,050,173
–
–
–
–
–
– 30,050,173

Gain for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive gain for the period
Reclassiﬁcation
Acquisition during the period
Dividend
Balance as at 31.12.2012

–
–
–
–
–
–
414,418,955

–
–
–
–
–
–
– 30,050,173

in US$

Accumulated
deﬁcit

Currency
translation
adjustment

Shareholders’
equity attributable
to the holders of
the Company

74,761,596 – 100,553,509
– – 55,966,517
–
–
– – 55,966,517
–
–
– – 21,312,965
74,761,596 – 177,832,991

– 15,269,686
–
10,493,556
10,493,556
–
–
– 4,776,130

343,307,183
– 55,966,517
10,493,556
– 45,472,961
–
– 21,312,965
276,521,257

–
418,069
418,069
–
–
–
– 4,358,061

11,926,954
418,069
12,345,023
–
–
–
288,866,280

Share
premium

–
–
–
– 74,761,596
–
–
–

11,926,954
–
11,926,954
74,761,596
–
–
– 91,144,441

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements of Eastern Property Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2012 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 9 April 2013. Eastern Property Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in British Virgin
Islands whose shares are publicly traded on the SIX Swiss Exchange. The
registered ofﬁce is located at Blenheim Trust (BVI) Limited, R.G. Hodge
Plaza, Wickhams Cay 1, P.O. Box 3483, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin
Islands VG1110.
The principal activities of the Group are described in Note 6.
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group have been prepared
on a historical cost basis, except for Investment Properties, and Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Proﬁt or Loss that have
been measured at fair value. The Consolidated Financial Statements are
presented in US dollars (“US$”).
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous
ﬁnancial year, except that the Group has adopted the following new and
amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations as of 1 January 2012:
–
–

IAS 1 – Financial Statement Presentation (Amendement) effective
1 July 2012
IAS 12 – Income Taxes (Amendement) effective 1 January 2012
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Standards, amendments and interpretations relevant to the Group that
are not yet effective and not expected to have a signiﬁcant impact on the
Group’s ﬁnancial statements
– IAS 19 – Employee Beneﬁts (Amendement) effective 1 January 2013
– IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements (Amendement) effective
1 January 2013
– IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendement)
– effective 1 January 2013
– IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments effective 1 January 2015
– IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements effective
1 January 2013
– IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements effective 1 January 2013
– IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities effective
1 January 2013
– IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement effective 1 January 2013
Early adoption of standards
In 2012, the Group did not early adopt any new or amended standards
and does not plan to early adopt any of the issued, but not yet effective
standards.
4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern
the ﬁnancial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than 50% of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date when control ceases.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. All Group companies have 31 December as their year end. Consolidated ﬁnancial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies
for like transactions. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

Property acquisition and business combinations
Where property is acquired, via corporate acquisitions or otherwise, management considers the substance of the assets and activities of the acquired
entity in determining whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of a
business. The basis of the judgement is set out in Note 5.
Where such acquisitions are not judged to be an acquisition of a business,
they are not treated as business combinations. Rather, the cost to acquire
the corporate entity is allocated between the identiﬁable assets and liabilities of the entity based on their relative fair values at the acquisition date.
Accordingly, no goodwill or additional deferred taxation arises. Otherwise,
acquisitions are accounted for as business combinations.
Transactions and non-controlling interest (NCI)
The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with parties external to the Group. Non-controllinginterests represent the portion of proﬁt/ (loss) and net assets not held by the
Group. They are presented separately on the statement of comprehensive
income and in the consolidated statement of ﬁnancial position separately
from the amounts attributable to the owners of the parent.
Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has signiﬁcant inﬂuence
but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% (inclusive) of the voting rights. Investments in Associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised
at cost.
The Group‘s share of its associates‘ post-acquisition proﬁts or losses is
recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in equity is recognised in equity. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group‘s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group‘s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Joint ventures
The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for by proportionate consolidation. The Group combines its share of the joint ventures’
individual income and expenses, assets and liabilities and cash ﬂows on a
line-by-line basis with similar items in the Group’s ﬁnancial statements. The
Group recognises the portion of gains or losses on the sale of assets by the
Group to the joint venture that is attributable to the other venturers. The
Group does not recognise its share of proﬁts or losses from the joint venture
that result from the Group’s purchase of assets from the joint venture until it
resells the assets to an independent party. However, a loss on the transaction is recognised immediately if the loss provides evidence of a reduction in
the net realisable value of current assets, or an impairment loss.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of the parent company is the US dollar (US$). The
functional currency of the Group’s major subsidiaries is the Russian ruble
(RUB). Items included in the ﬁnancial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates.
The Company‘s shares are listed on the SIX stock exchange in US dollars.
Therefore, the Group uses the US dollar as its presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions or valuation
where items valued at fair value are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the income statement.
Group companies
The results and ﬁnancial position of all Group entities (none of which has
the currency of a hyperinﬂationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:
– assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that ﬁnancial position;
– income and expenses for each income statement are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and
– all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the
net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings that qualify as quasiequity loans, are taken to Other Comprehensive Income. When the foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the income
statement.
Goodwill and fair value adjustment arising on the acquisition of a foreign
entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate.
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Classiﬁcation
The Group classiﬁes its ﬁnancial assets either as ‘Financial Assets at Fair
Value Through Proﬁt or Loss’, ‘Loans and Receivables’, or as ‘Trade Receivables’. The classiﬁcation depends on the purpose for which the ﬁnancial
assets were acquired. Management determines the classiﬁcation of its ﬁnancial assets at initial recognition.
Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Proﬁt or Loss
This category has two sub-categories: ﬁnancial assets “held for trading”,
and those designated “at fair value through proﬁt or loss” at inception. A
ﬁnancial asset is classiﬁed as held for trading if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held
for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Financial assets designated as at fair value through proﬁt or loss at inception are those which are
part of a group of ﬁnancial assets that are managed and their performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented Group’s
investment strategy. Information about these ﬁnancial assets is provided
internally on a fair value basis to the Group entity‘s key management personnel. Assets in this category are classiﬁed as current assets if they are
either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the
balance sheet date.
Loans and Receivables and Trade Receivables
Loans and Receivables and Trade Receivables are non-derivative ﬁnancial
assets with ﬁxed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater
than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are classiﬁed as noncurrent assets.
Recognition and measurement
Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date,
meaning the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction
costs for all ﬁnancial assets not carried at fair value through proﬁt or loss.
Financial Assets Carried at Fair Value Through Proﬁt or Loss are initially
recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive

cash ﬂows from the investments have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment. Gains or losses arising from changes
in the fair value of the Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Proﬁt or Loss
category are presented in the income statement within Net Gain/ (Loss)
From Fair Value Adjustment on Financial Investments in the period in which
they arise.
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that a ﬁnancial asset or group of ﬁnancial assets is
impaired. A ﬁnancial asset or a group of ﬁnancial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact
on the estimated future cash ﬂows of the ﬁnancial asset or group of ﬁnancial
assets that can be reliably estimated.
The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence
of an impairment loss includes:
–
–

Signiﬁcant ﬁnancial difﬁculty of the issuer or obligor;
A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;
– The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s
ﬁnancial difﬁculty, granting to the borrower a concession that a lender
would not otherwise consider;
– It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other
ﬁnancial reorganisation;
– The disappearance of an active market for that ﬁnancial asset because of ﬁnancial difﬁculties; or
– Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash ﬂows from a portfolio of ﬁnancial assets since
the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot
yet be identiﬁed with the individual ﬁnancial assets in the portfolio,
including:
(i) Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio;
and
(ii) National or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the
assets in the portfolio.
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Investment Property is measured initially at cost including transaction costs.
Transaction costs include transfer taxes, professional fees for legal services
and initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating. The carrying amount also includes the
cost of replacing part of an existing Investment Property at the time that cost
is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

The Group ﬁrst assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists.
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash ﬂows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the
ﬁnancial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount
rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate
determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an
observable market price.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit
rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Trade receivables
A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there
is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to the original terms of the receivables. Signiﬁcant ﬁnancial
difﬁculties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or ﬁnancial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more
than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable
is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash ﬂows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. When a trade receivable
is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables.
INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment property comprises completed property and property under
construction or re-development held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Property held under a lease is classiﬁed as investment property
when the deﬁnition of an investment property is met. The lease obligation
is recognised under IAS 17 at fair value of the interest in the leasehold
property.

Subsequent to initial recognition, Investment Property is stated at fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values are included in the
income statement in the year in which they arise.
Investment Property is derecognised when it has been disposed of or permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic beneﬁt is expected
from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of Investment Property are recognised in the income statement in the year of
retirement or disposal.
Gains or losses on the disposal of investment property are determined as
the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the
asset in the previous full period ﬁnancial statements.
Fair value is determined by professional third party appraisers at each balance sheet date and is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the speciﬁc
asset. If active market information is not available, appraisers use alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on other, more active, markets
or discounted cash ﬂow projections.
The fair value of Investment Property reﬂects, among other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental income from future
leases in light of current market conditions. The fair value also reﬂects, on
a similar basis, any cash outﬂows that could be expected in respect to the
property. Because of the primary currency used in the Group’s lease contracts, the currency of the Group’s bank ﬁnancings, and the usual currency
to set transaction prices when buying or selling properties, the appraisers
determine the value of the Group’s real estate holdings in US$.
The Moscow ofﬁce of international real estate consultant Jones Lang LaSalle has been commissioned by the Group to perform valuations of its
real estate holdings. The results of the valuations have been reviewed and
approved by the Board of Directors as representing the fair values at the
reporting date.
Subsequent expenditures are capitalised to the assets’ carrying amount
only when it is probable that future economic beneﬁts associated with the
expenditure will ﬂow to the Group and the cost of the item can be meas-
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ured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when
incurred. When part of an Investment Property is replaced, the carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
Changes in fair values are recorded in the Income Statement. Investment
Properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or
when the Investment Property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic beneﬁt is expected from its disposal.

Payment is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for
Advance Payment.

Where the Group disposes of a property at fair value in an arm’s length
transaction, any difference between the carrying value and the transaction
price will be recognised in gain / (loss) on disposal of investment property.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and Cash Equivalents comprise cash at bank and in-hand, short-term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less and short term
forwards. Bank overdrafts are shown separately in the current liabilities on
the Balance Sheet.

For a transfer from Inventories to Investment Property that will be carried at
fair value, any difference between the fair value of the property at that date
and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the proﬁt or loss.
Where an Investment Property undergoes a change in use, evidenced by
commencement of development with a view to sale, the property is transferred to Inventories. A property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting
as inventories is its fair value at the date of change in use.
The Group’s Investment Property also includes certain long-term leasehold
land, which is accounted for as if it was a ﬁnance lease under IAS 17 “Leases”. Each lease payment on the long-term leasehold property is allocated
between the liability and ﬁnance charges so as to achieve a constant rate
on the ﬁnance lease balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of future ﬁnance charges, are included in Non-current Lease
Liability on Leasehold Property. The interest element of the ﬁnance cost is
charged to the consolidated income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period in accordance with IAS 40 “Investment Property”.
ASSETS UNDER DEVELOPMENT
Property acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordinary course of
business, rather than to be held for rental or capital appreciation, is held
as Assets under Development and is measured at the lower of cost and appraised value. When Assets under Development are sold, revenue from the
sale, as determined by the sale price, will be recognised in the Consolidated
Income Statement.
ADVANCE PAYMENT
Advance Payment is stated at historical cost less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of Advance Payment is established when there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect goods or services due according to the terms of the payments. The amount of the provision
is the difference between the asset’s carrying value and the present value
of the estimated future cash ﬂows discounted at the effective interest rate.
This provision is recognised in the income statement. When an Advance

SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classiﬁed as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
Where a Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital
(treasury shares), the consideration paid, including directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued.
Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received,
net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects, is included in Equity Attributable to the Company’s Equity Holders.
TRADE PAYABLES
Trade Payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
LOANS FROM BANKS
Loans from Banks are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. They are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the loan
using the effective interest method.
Loans from Banks are classiﬁed as Current Liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the balance sheet date.
PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outﬂow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount can be
reliably estimated.

60 FINANCIAL REPORT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reﬂects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks speciﬁc
to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as ﬁnance cost.
CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to taxation authorities. The tax rates
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current income tax relating to
items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in proﬁt
or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to
interpretation and it establishes provisions where appropriate.
DEFERRED INCOME TAX
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary
differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for ﬁnancial reporting purposes, with
the following exceptions:
–

Where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
accounting nor taxable proﬁt or loss

–

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled by the
parent, venturer or investor, respectively, and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable proﬁt will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised.
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liablities. In
determining the expected manner of realisation of an investment property
measured at fair value, a rebuttable presumption exists that its carrying
amount wil be recovered through the sale.
The element of the total carrying amount of the investment property represented by the land is considered non-depreciable. The directors estimate
the depreciable amount and residual value of the building element on a
property by property basis.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in proﬁt or loss.
REVENUE RECOGNITION
Rental income
Rental income receivable from operating leases, less the Group’s initial direct costs of entering into the leases, is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease, except for contingent rental income which is
recognised when it arises.
Incentives for lessees to enter into lease agreements are spread evenly over
the lease term, even if the
payments are not made on such a basis. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any further term for which the tenant
has the option to continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease,
the directors are reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise that option.
Amounts received from tenants to terminate leases or to compensate for
dilapidations are recognised in the income statement when they arise.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate
method.
Service charges and expenses recoverable from tenants
Income arising from expenses recharged to tenants is recognised in the period in which the expense can be contractually recovered. Service charges
and other such receipts are included gross of the related costs in revenue,
as the directors consider that the Group acts as principal in this respect.
Property sales
Sale of properties is recognised when the risks and rewards of the properties are passed to the purchasers. Deposits and instalments received on
properties sold prior to their completion are included under Current Liabilities. In the case of Assets under Development, sales of inventory property
are recorded in the Consolidated Income Statement together with an adjustment for the associated cost of the inventory.
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Leases – Group as lessee
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
beneﬁts incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the
inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at
the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Lease payments are apportioned between the ﬁnance charges and the reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to the
income statement as they arise.
Other leases are classiﬁed as operating leases, unless they are leases of
investment property (see investment property above). Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straightline basis over the lease term, except for contingent rental payments which
are expensed when they arise.
DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s ﬁnancial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders.
5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Group’s ﬁnancial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected
in future periods.
JUDGEMENTS OTHER THAN ESTIMATES
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has
made the following judgements, which have the most signiﬁcant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements:
Revenue recognition
When a contract for the sale of a property upon completion of construction
is judged to be a construction contract, (see revenue recognition policy for
sales of property under development), revenue is recognised using the percentage of completion method as construction progresses. The percentage
of completion is made by reference to the stage of completion of projects
and contracts determined based on the proportion of contract costs incurred to date and the estimated costs to complete.

Business combinations
The Group acquires subsidiaries that own real estate. At the time of acquisition, the Group considers whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of a business. The Group accounts for an acquisition as a business
combination where an integrated set of activities is acquired in addition to
the property. More speciﬁcally, consideration is made of the extent to which
signiﬁcant processes are acquired and, in particular, the extent of ancillary
services provided by the subsidiary (e.g., maintenance, cleaning, security,
bookkeeping, etc.). The signiﬁcance of any process is judged with reference
to the guidance in IAS 40 on ancillary services.
When the acquisition of subsidiaries does not represent a business, it is
accounted for as an acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities. The cost
of the acquisition is allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based
upon their relative fair values, and no goodwill or deferred tax is recognised.
Taxes
The Group is subject to income and capital gains taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Signiﬁcant judgement is required to determine the total provision for
current and deferred taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination and timing of payment is uncertain.
The Group recognises liabilities for current taxes based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the ﬁnal tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which the determination is made. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised on a net basis to the extent they are relating to the same ﬁscal
unity and fall due in approximately the same period.
ESTIMATES
Estimation of net realisable value for Assets Under Development
Assets under Development are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value (NRV).
NRV for completed Assets under Development is assessed with reference
to market conditions and prices existing at the reporting date and is determined by the Group having taken suitable external advice and in the light of
recent market transactions.
NRV in respect of inventory property under construction is assessed with
reference to market prices at the reporting date for similar completed property, less estimated costs to complete construction and less estimated costs
to complete construction and less an estimate of the time value of money to
the date of completion.
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Taxes
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and the amount and timing of future taxable
income. Given the wide range of international business relationships and the
long-term nature and complexity of existing contractual agreements, differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or
future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments
to tax income and expense already recorded. The Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits
by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The
amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as experience
of previous tax audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the
taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions
prevailing in the respective Group company’s domicile.
Valuation of investment properties
The fair value of each Investment Property is determined by independent
real estate valuation experts using recognised valuation techniques in compliance with the requirements of RICS valuation standards (2012 edition).
These techniques comprise both the Yield Method and the Discounted Cash
Flow Method within the income approach. In some cases, the fair values are
determined based on recent real estate transactions with similar characteristics and location to those of the Group assets.
Investment Property Under Construction is also valued at fair value as determined by independent real estate valuation experts, except if such values
cannot be reliably determined. In the exceptional cases when a fair value
cannot be reliably determined, such properties are recorded at cost. The fair
value of investment properties under construction is determined using the
Discounted Cash Flow Method.
The determination of the fair value of Investment Property requires the use
of estimates such as future cash ﬂows from assets (such as lettings, tenants’ proﬁles, future revenue streams, capital values of ﬁxtures and ﬁttings,
plant and machinery, any environmental matters and the overall repair and
condition of the property) and discount rates applicable to those assets.
In addition, development risks (such as construction and letting risks) are
also taken into consideration when determining the fair value of investment
properties under construction. Future revenue streams, inter alia, comprises contracted rent (passing rent) and estimated rental income (ERV) after
the contract period. In estimating ERV, the potential impact of future lease
incentives to be granted to secure new contracts is taken into consideration. All these estimates are based on local market conditions existing at
the reporting date.

In arriving at their estimates of market values as at 31 December 2011 and
31 December 2012, the valuers used their market knowledge and professional judgement and did not rely solely on historical transactional comparables. Moreover, the Russian real estate market involves few transactions,
and when properties do change hands, complete information is generally
not available. Due to the relatively short history of the Russian property
sector, it remains impossible to determine long term averages for rents or
capitalisation rates. In these circumstances, there was a greater degree
of uncertainty than which exists in a more active market in estimating the
market values of investment property.The signiﬁcant methods and assumptions used by the valuers in estimating the fair value of investment property
are set out in Note 7.
Techniques used for valuing investment property
The Yield Method converts anticipated future cash ﬂow beneﬁts in the form
of rental income into present value. This approach requires careful estimation of future beneﬁts and the application of investor yield or return requirements. One approach to value the property on this basis is to capitalise
net rental income on the basis of an Equivalent Yield, which represents
the “overall” rate of return on a reversionary investment and is threfore the
“weighted average” yield, reﬂecting the rent change and term length, adjusted for any factors not included in net rental income, such as vacancy,
lease incentives, refurbishment, etc.
The Discounted Cash Flow Method involves the projection of a series of periodic cash ﬂows either to an operating property or a development property.
To this projected cash ﬂow series, an appropriate, market-derived discount
rate is applied to establish an indication of the present value of the income
stream associated with the property. The calculated periodic cash ﬂow is
typically estimated as gross rental income less vacancy and collection losses and less operating expenses/outgoings and investment costs. A series of
periodic net operating incomes, along with an estimate of the reversion/terminal/exit value (which uses the traditional valuation approach) anticipated
at the end of the projection period, are discounted to present value. The
aggregate of the net present values equals the market value of the property.
Each of the valuation approaches used requires a signiﬁcant degree of
judgement on the part of the valuers. Most inputs, for example the period
of time it will take to lease a certain space, rent it will be leased at, vacancy
rate, or the proﬁt a potential buyer will have to believe he will earn in order
to be interested in acquiring a new project, are ultimately a matter of profes-
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sional judgment, and cannot be conclusively proven to be the only, or often
even the most correct choice. Even a relatively small change in a single variable can have a signiﬁcant impact on an asset’s valuation, and consequently
could materially change the Group’s results and asset value.
In valuing properties which are currently leased, key assumptions the appraisers must make include the void period (how long it will take to rerent space after current leases expire), the rent at which the space can
be leased, incentives which may be demanded by prospective tenants and
whether or not the building will ever be 100% occupied.
When valuing development projects, especially if the completed project will
be a rental property, the same assumptions applied to rental properties may
be relevant, and it will be necessary to also consider the cost of delivering
the project, time required to complete it, and the return an acquirer will
demand to accept any risks involved. It the completed project is meant to be
sold, for example as residential space, valuers will make assumptions as to
the amount of time needed to sell the space, and the price that will be paid.
In the case of assets which are not currently in use for a speciﬁc purpose,
for example raw land which may be developed in a number of different
ways, or an empty building which might be either renovated or replaced
altogether, valuers may make their own assumptions as to what will be done
with the asset, using the principle of highest and best use. In case the Group
chooses to develop, complete, or employ an asset in a way which differs
from the valuer’s assumption, a future valuation reﬂecting the different use
may be signiﬁcantly different.
Management has reviewed the appraisers’ assumptions underlying the
valuations of the Group’s Investment Properties, and believe that the inputs
they have used have been appropriately determined considering the market
conditions at the balance sheet date.
The table below presents the sensitivity of the valuation to changes in the
most signiﬁcant assumptions underlying the valuation of investment properties.
in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Capitalisation rate increase by 0.25%
Decrease in rental rates of 5%
Increase in construction costs of 5%

– 1,824,051
– 4,340,502
– 909,600

– 1,517,783
– 3,830,403
– 849,600

The Group uses assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at each balance sheet date, including:
i. discounted cash ﬂow projections based on reliable estimates of future
cash ﬂows, derived from the terms of any existing lease and other contracts and (where possible) from external evidence such as the receipt
of contractual rents; expected future market rents; void periods; maintenance requirements, estimated cost of construction, and using discount rates that reﬂect current market assessments of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash ﬂows.
ii. Certain properties for / under development require additional permission or permits from the Russian authorities, or will require extension
of existing permissions or permits. In these cases, assumptions may
be made by the valuers in the course of their work that such required
planning, construction permits and state registration will be secured as
needed, and that the projects will comply with all municipal and national
zoning and planning laws, and they will be completed without undue
delay.
iii. current prices in other, more active markets for properties of different
nature, condition or location (or subject to different lease or other contracts), adjusted to reﬂect those differences;
iv. recent prices of similar properties in less active markets, with adjustments to reﬂect any changes in economic conditions since the date of
the transactions that occurred at those prices;
In common with a number of Russian real estate developers, the Group is
exposed to certain risks associated with the delay in the commencement
and completion of its projects. Certain subsidiaries within the Group have
entered into investment contracts. Such investment contracts specify the
term during which construction of the relevant project must be completed.
These investment contracts include completion deadlines which may already be impossible to meet. The Group’s experience is that such deadlines
can be successfully renegotiated or extended to meet realistic completion
schedules, however, there is no assurance the relevant government agencies will accommodate the Group’s future requests. If permission to extend
an investment contract is refused, or a contract is terminated, it is possible
that compensation will be only nominal, and even that will be substantially
delayed. In such a case the Group would lose all its rights in respect of the
relevant project and most or all of the investment made in such project to
date.
Assumption of expected future use of investment properties or assets under
development
In order to determine the appropriate accounting treatment for the Group’s
investment projects or properties, the Group allocates the cost of development to the individual property components i.e. retail and residential apartments, based on estimated future revenues (Notes 7 and 8).
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Unavailability of ﬁnancial information
When the Group invests as a minority shareholder in a company, it may not
be actively involved in the management of the company, nor the preparation of its ﬁnancial information. As such, the Group may not have access to
ﬁnancial information for these investments in a timely manner, or at all, and
may have no choice but to make estimates for valuation purposes based on
the limited information available at the time valuations are determined. The
Group may also not be able to control the timing of independent third party
audit of these companies, and may have to apply its own judgment as to the
reliability of the information it does receive.
Fair Value of derivatives and other ﬁnancial instruments
The fair value of ﬁnancial instruments where no active market exists or
where quoted prices are not otherwise available are determined by using
valuation techniques. In these cases, the fair values are estimated from
observable data in respect of similar ﬁnancial instruments or using models.
Where market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated based
on appropriate assumptions. Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the reported fair value of ﬁnancial instruments.
Impairment of assets
The Group determines whether an asset is impaired by evaluating the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
In determining fair value, valuations of independent appraisers are used.
This evaluation is subject to changes in factors such as industry and sector
performance, changes in technology and operational and ﬁnancing cash
ﬂow.
The Group reviews its Loans and Receivables balances to assess impairment on a periodic basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should
be recorded in the Consolidated Income Statement, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment
trigger followed by a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
ﬂows from the various loans.

Management also uses estimates in order to determine the fair value of
collateral assets for calculating an impairment. This evidence may include
observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the
payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management
uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those
in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash ﬂows. The methodology
and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future
cash ﬂows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss
estimates and actual loss experience.
Impairment of assets under development
The Group compares the carrying amounts of Assets under Development
to their estimated net realisable value based on independent market value
appraisals at each balance sheet date (Note 8). Provisions are made when
appraised value is below the current carrying amount, or when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be
realised. This assessment requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Concentration of business risk
All of the Group’s real estate assets are located in Russia, primarily in the
two largest cities, Moscow and St. Petersburg. As a result of this geographic
and sectoral concentration, any change in the Russian political or regulatory
environment, any decline in economic activity in Russia generally, or Moscow or St. Petersburg in particular, and any downturn or weakness in the
local real estate market due to changes in the level of demand for or supply
of commercial space or otherwise, may each adversely affect the Group’s
results of operations, ﬁnancial condition and the value of its properties. In
addition, each of the Group’s current holdings corresponds to a signiﬁcant
proportion of its assets, thus each has the potential to materially affect the
Group’s equity value and proﬁtability.
While certain of the Group’s entities are domiciled in Cyprus, the Group does
not hold any bank accounts in Cyprus, with the exception of one bank account. One of the Group’s subsidiaries has a bank account in Cyprus for the
purpose of settling on-going local administration costs of immaterial nature.
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Going concern assumption
Management prepared these ﬁnancial statements on a going concern basis.
In making this judgement management considered the current intentions
and ﬁnancial position of the Group.
Internal cash ﬂow analysis has been prepared by the management of the
Group to support the going concern assumption in the business. Management used its judgement and made assumptions based on the existing
management information and the market conditions existing as at balance
sheet date in preparing its internal cashﬂow analysis. If the assumptions
as to the timing and magnitude of future events prove to be inaccurate, the
going concern assumption may no longer be applicable.
Income taxes
The Group is potentially subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions where
the Group’s assets are physically located and where Group companies are
domiciled. Signiﬁcant judgement is required in determining the global provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
ﬁnal tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. Details are
included in Note 22 and 27 of the ﬁnancial statements.
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Chief Operating Decision Maker of the Group has been identiﬁed as the
Management Committee, which has been given responsibility for allocating
the Group’s resources between its various assets, and operating the Group
on a day to day basis under the Real Estate Management Agreement.

The Management Committee has access to detailed ﬁnancial reports for all
the Group’s assets and evaluates the performance of each on an individual
basis. Based on the shared natures of products and services, production
processes, type of customer, distribution methods, and regulatory environment, the Group’s assets have been aggregated into four operating segments: rental properties, development properties, passive investments, and
development ﬁnancing.
1.
–
–
–
–

Rental Properties which consist of:
99.9% of one commercial property: Petrovsky Fort in St. Petersburg
100% of one commercial property: Magistal’naya in Moscow
10% of two commercial properties: Berlin House and Geneva House in
Moscow
50% of a underground parking garage: Turgenevskaya Square in
Moscow

Rental Properties generate rental income and incur expenses primarily for
maintenance and building operations. The Group’s Rental Properties are
in Russia’s two largest cities; Moscow and St. Petersburg, and are comprised predominantly of ofﬁce space, though all, except Magistral’naya,
have space dedicated to retail. The assets are kept at fair value, which is
generally based on the leases in place and market-wide valuation criteria
(yields, reversion rents).

66 FINANCIAL REPORT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

The Rental Properties segment generates product or service-based recurring revenues by providing commercial premises for which rental income is
received. Gross and net rents for the Segment are reﬂected as such in both
the Consolidated Income Statement and accounts presented by segment.

2. Development Properties which consist of:
– 60% of a joint venture to develop two mixed-use properties in Moscow: Arbat Multi-use Complexes
– 100% of a raw land plot: 103 hectare “Scandinavia” site near
St. Petersburg
– 50% of a joint venture to develop parking facilities in Moscow:
Inkonika
Development Properties generate revaluation gains and losses, also based
on certain dynamics (cost and availability of ﬁnancing to developers, risk
appetite, stage of completion) which are shared by all projects, yet different from those impacting Rental Properties. The Group’s Development assets are in or near Russia’s two largest cities; Moscow and St. Petersburg.
Development Properties reﬂect a mixture of properties which, when completed, will either be retained and held as Rental Properties, or will be, in the
course of business held for sale.
3. Passive Investments which consists of:
– 25.9% of a joint venture which develops commercial real estate in
Russia: Hypercenter Investment SA
– 10% of a company which owned an ofﬁce property in Russia: Sarnatus Trading Ltd.
Passive Investments represent investments in companies in which the
Group does not have a controlling interest and does not actively participate
in management. Both of the Group’s Passive investments are fully impaired.
No impairment reversal was booked in 2012.

4. Development Financing which consists of:
– Loans to Vakhtangov Place Ltd. the 60%-owned joint venture company which is developing the Arbat Multi-use Complexes
– Loans to Vestive the 50%-owned joint venture company owning parking lot developer Inkonika.
– Loans to EPH Real Estate and Connecta the 10% investment in associates companies owning Berlin House and Geneva House buildings
Development Financing represents interest-bearing loans made for the
purpose of developing real estate in Russia. Historically, the Group’s lending has primarily been to joint ventures in which it has ownership interest
and the ability to actively protect its interests, and at present all outstanding loans are to such entities. In case of joint ownership of a development
project, the amount reﬂected in the Group’s accounts is that portion which
is not eliminated in consolidation.
Development ﬁnancing generates interest income for the Group.
All of the Group’s Rental Properties, Development Properties, and Passive
Investments are in Russia, as are the assets securing the Group’s Development Financing.
Information provided to the Management Committee is measured in a manner consistent with that in the ﬁnancial statements.
Revenue of the Group by operating activities for the periods is as follows:
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in US$
Gross rental income
Rental expenses
Net rental income (subtotal)
Interest income
Valuation movements
Development property impairment
Finance costs
Share of associates’ loss
Income taxes
Other income / (expenses)
Net (loss) / proﬁt for the period

in US$
Gross rental income
Rental expenses
Net rental income (subtotal)
Interest income
Valuation movements
Development property impairment
Finance costs
Share of associates’ loss
Net gain from sale of subsidiaries
Income taxes
Other income / (expenses)
Net (loss) / proﬁt for the period

Rental
Property
7,802,698
– 2,038,402
5,764,296
–
2,552,557
–
–
5,549,835
432,556
– 6,734,887
7,564,356

Rental
Property
13,712,338
– 4,800,637
8,911,701
–
– 1,330,612
–
–
2,369,335
– 2,310,566
– 4,938,916
– 18,322,110
– 15,621,169

31.12.2012
Development
Passive
Properties
Investments

Development
Financing

Total

–
–
–
–
448,027
– 4,099,779
–
–
393,433
288,827
– 2,969,492

–
–
–
–
226,848
–
–
–
–
–
226,848

–
–
–
7,865,743
556,987
–
– 3,031,404
–
–
1,713,918
7,105,244

7,802,698
– 2,038,402
5,764,296
7,865,743
3,784,419
– 4,099,779
– 3,031,404
5,549,835
825,988
– 4,732,142
11,926,956

31.12.2011
Development
Passive
Properties
Investments

Development
Financing

Total

–
–
–
4,752,873
930,119
–
– 6,915,096
–
–
– 42
– 14,127,267
– 15,359,413

13,712,338
– 4,800,637
8,911,701
4,752,873
– 10,734,873
2,831,589
– 6,915,096
– 21,928,472
– 2,310,566
– 4,467,163
– 26,106,512
– 55,966,518

–
–
–
–
– 10,659,781
2,831,589
–
– 24,297,807
–
471,796
6,342,865
– 25,311,338

–
–
–
–
325,401
–
–
–
–
–
–
325,401
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The Management Committee also assesses the performance of operating
segments based on the results of valuation of the respective assets.

Rental
Properties
Investment properties
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Assets under development
Investment in associates
Loans and receivables
Cash & cash equivalents
Other Assets
Total Assets
Total Liabilities

72,937,951
–
–
16,708,524
13,819,629
1,056,843
5,063,807
109,586,754
20,234,874

Rental
Properties
Investment properties
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Assets under development
Investment in associates
Loans and receivables
Cash & cash equivalents
Other Assets
Total Assets
Total Liabilities

70,303,658
–
–
10,472,709
9,892,097
790,265
5,059,861
96,518,590
17,060,224

Assets and liabilities valuation as of 31.12.2012
Development
Passive
Development
Properties
Investments
Financing
53,320,000
–
95,179,891
–
–
3,805,695
65,647
152,371,233
4,783,457

–
–
–
–
62,970,667
–
–
62,970,667
35,706,273

126,257,951
19,642,622
95,179,891
16,708,524
76,790,296
9,882,145
5,129,454
349,590,884
60,724,604

Assets and liabilities valuation as of 31.12.2011
Development
Passive
Development
Properties
Investments
Financing

Total

47,500,000
–
76,615,089
–
–
1,311,974
61,886
125,488,949
5,194,534

–
19,642,622
–
–
–
5,019,606
–
24,662,228
–

Total

–
56,011,682
–
–
–
18,695,789
–
74,707,471
–

–
–
–
–
41,384,749
–
–
41,384,749
39,323,744

117,803,658
56,011,682
76,615,089
10,472,709
51,276,846
20,798,029
5,121,746
338,099,759
61,578,502
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7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
in US$
Investment Properties
Beginning of the period
Addition due to increased
ownership stake
Additions
Disposals
Cost reallocation from / (to)
Development properties
Reclassiﬁcation from / (to)
Development properties
Revaluations
Finance lease liabilities
End of period

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

117,803,658

370,228,101

–
1,400,000
4,157,247
3,416,793
– – 231,101,742
1,290,814
–
3,000,584
5,648
126,257,951

–
– 14,156,024
– 11,990,393
6,924
117,803,658

Investment Properties comprise the following:
in US$
Investment Properties
A. Petrovsky Fort
B. Magistral’naya
C. Arbat Multi-use Complexes
D. "Scandinavia" Land plots
in St. Petersburg
End of period

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

64,615,409
8,322,542
14,220,000

64,092,889
6,210,769
8,400,000

39,100,000
126,257,951

39,100,000
117,803,658

The impact of Investment Property revaluations on the ﬁnancial results of
the Group is presented below on an asset by asset basis:
in US$
Net gain / (loss) from
fair value adjustment
on investment properties
A. Petrovsky Fort
B. Magistral’naya
C. Arbat Multi-use Complexes
D. "Scandinavia" Land plots
in St. Petersburg
E. Geneva House
Total

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

446,432
2,106,125
448,027

2,305,261
– 926,553
28,219

–
–
3,000,584

– 10,688,000
– 2,709,320
– 11,990,393

RENTAL PROPERTIES
A. Petrovsky Fort
in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Petrovsky Fort
Beginning of the period
Addition
Revaluation
Land lease obligations
End of period

64,092,889
76,088
446,432
–
64,615,409

61,719,423
68,204
2,305,261
–
64,092,889

Petrovsky Fort is a 47,600 square meter Class B ofﬁce and retail building
located at Finlyandsky Prospect 4 in central St. Petersburg. The building
has nine ofﬁce and two retail levels and a large central atrium. Of the net
rentable space, 15,300 square meters are designated for ofﬁce use and
about 5,800 square meters as retail space. The building has an underground parking facility with 118 parking spaces and an above-ground car
park with 36 parking spaces.
As of 31 December 2012, the vacancy rate as a percentage of total rentable
area of the building was 4% (31 December 2011: 15%) and by use was, for
ofﬁce space, 6% (31 December 2011: 18%), and for retail space, 0% (31
December 2011: 8%). Gross rental income for the property for the period
under review was US$ 6.63 million (31 December 2011: US$ 5.76 million).
The following table indicates the exposure to non-renewals of existing operating leases over the periods indicated:
in US$
Petrovsky Fort
Next 12 months
12 – 60 months
60 months and later

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

4,025,911
3,102,026
–

3,147,270
2,335,883
–

As of 31 December 2012, the top ﬁve tenants in the building, by net rent
paid are DSK Slavyansky, RKS, SET, Glavstroy-SPb and Russian Consulting
SPb. The top ﬁve tenants account for approximately 23% of the annual net
rent (31 December 2011: 20%).
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Remaining lease term

Percentage of space
Net rent as a percentage of total
Ofﬁce
Retail
Ofﬁce
Retail

Petrovsky Fort
Less than one year
One to ﬁve years
More than ﬁve years

The fair value of Petrovsky Fort was determined to be US$ 61.80 million as
at 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: US$ 61.43 million), based on an
independent valuation prepared by Jones Lang LaSalle. The carrying value
of Petrovsky Fort represents its fair value plus the adjustment for outstanding land lease obligations with respect to the long-term leasehold land under
the property. The valuer has adopted the income approach in which they
have capitalised the current income stream, as well as any reversionary income in the future that will be received upon the leasing of any vacant space
or expiry and renewal of leases. The current valuation reﬂects an equivalent
yield of 11.5% (31 December 2011: 11.5%).
As of 31 December 2012, Petrovsky Fort LLC had registered one mortgage
on the building which served as collateral for a credit facility in the initial
amount of US$ 40.0 million from Unicredit Bank Austria AG.

74%
26%
0%

47%
53%
0%

36%
64%
0%

18%
82%
0%

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

6,210,769
–
2,106,125
5,648
8,322,542

7,130,399
–
– 926,553
6,924
6,210,769

B. Magistral’naya
in US$
Magistralnaya
Beginning of the period
Addition
Revaluation
Land lease obligations
End of period

Magistral’naya is an operational Class B ofﬁce complex of three buildings
with a total combined area of 3,552 square meters and leasehold rights in
three conjoined land plots, located in Moscow at the intersection of Zvenigorodskoye Highway and the 3rd Transport Ring Road.
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As of 31 December 2012, the entire ofﬁce complex, with the exception of
135 sq m, used by the Group, is let to “Podzemgazprom” for under a 10 year
lease agreement signed on 3 March 2012.
The fair value of Magistral’naya was determined to be US$ 8.20 million as
of 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: US$ 6.10 million) based on an
independent valuation prepared by Jones Lang LaSalle. The carrying value
of Magistral’naya represents its fair value plus the adjustment for outstanding land lease obligations with respect to the long-term leasehold land under
the property. The valuer has adopted the income approach in which they
have capitalised the current income stream, as well as any reversionary income in the future that will be received upon the leasing of any vacant space
or expiry and renewal of leases. The current valuation reﬂects an equivalent
yield of 12% (31 December 2011: 12.5%).
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
C. Arbat Multi-use Complexes (retail and ofﬁce premises)
in US$
Arbat Multi-use complexes
Beginning of the period
Addition due to increased
ownership stake
Cost reallocation
Reclassiﬁcation
Addition
Revaluation
End of period

31.12.2012

on an independent valuation prepared by Jones Lang LaSalle, which was
allocated between retail and residential apartments proportionately, based
on estimated future revenues. The method of valuation, which was applied
by the appraiser, calculates the site value as an amount the rational, third
party or hypothetical developer could afford to bid or pay for the site given
the highest and best use of the asset.
D. “Scandinavia” Land plots in St. Petersburg
in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

"Scandinavia" Land
Beginning of the period
Addition
Revaluation
Land lease obligations
End of period

39,100,000
–
–
–
39,100,000

49,788,000
–
– 10,688,000
–
39,100,000

31.12.2011

8,400,000

20,321,537

–
1,290,814
–
4,081,159
448,027
14,220,000

1,400,000
–
– 14,156,024
806,268
28,219
8,400,000

The Company owns 60% of Vakhtangov Place Limited (VPL), which has the
rights to two construction and development projects at Arbat Street 24-26
and Arbat Street 39-41 in Moscow. The projects represent the construction
of two multi-use buildings of approximately 27,000 and 11,500 square meters. The Group consolidates VPL by integration of 60% of its balance sheet
in accordance with the requirements of IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures”.

The Company owns 100% of Idelisa Limited (Idelisa), which owns three land
plots located at Leninskoye Settlement, “Pervomaiskoye Selskoye Poseleniye”, Vyborgsky District, in the Leningrad Region near St. Petersburg, Russia,
with a total area of 103 hectares.
The fair value of the land plots was determined to be US$ 39.1 million as of
31 December 2012 based on an independent valuation prepared by Jones
Lang LaSalle (31 December 2011: US$ 39.1 million). As the land is currently held for undetermined use, the valuation is based on the highest and
best use approach where the valuer assumes that the land will be sold as
individual plots with utilities for owners to develop. In calculating the market
value the appraiser has adopted the income approach based on discounted
cash ﬂows and the appropriate allowance for “entrepreneur’s proﬁt (investor’s reward for assuming the risks that accompany the project).
8. ASSETS UNDER DEVELOPMENT
in US$

The two Arbat Multi-use Complexes each contain retail/ofﬁce premises and
residential apartments with underground parking. Though within the same
buildings, areas which will be retail/ofﬁce premises are treated differently
for reporting purposes than areas which will be apartments. Retail/ofﬁce
premises are recognised as Investment Property and carried at appraised
value. Apartments, which are intended for sale, are recognised as Assets
under Development and carried at cost but tested against an appraisal for
impairment at each balance sheet date (Note 8).
The fair value of the retail premises was determined to be US$ 14.22 million as of 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: US$ 8.4 million) based

Assets under development
Beginning of the period
Addition due to increased
ownership stake
Cost reallocation
Reclassiﬁcation
Addition
(Impairment)/
reverse of impairment
End of period

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

76,615,089

40,247,869

–
– 1,290,814
–
23,955,395

12,171,287
–
14,156,024
7,208,319

– 4,099,779
95,179,891

2,831,590
76,615,089
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ARBAT MULTI-USE COMPLEXES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
(APARTMENT PREMISES)
The Group’s 60% joint venture company, Vakhtangov Place Limited (VPL),
is developing two multi-use complexes on Moscow’s Arbat Street. The complexes will be composed of both retail/ofﬁce space and residential apartments. As residential space in Moscow is generally sold, rather than held for
rental income, the areas in the projects which are being developed as apartments are recognised as Assets under Development. Space in the same
projects which will be developed as retail space, and presumably held for
rental income, is being recognised as Investment Property (Note 7).
Assets under Development are kept at cost and tested against appraised
values for impairment at each balance sheet date. The carrying value is thus
the lower of cost or fair value. The cost of the space allocated for apartments in the Arbat Multi-use Complexes after impairment was determined
to be US$ 95.18 million as of 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: US$
76.62 million).
9. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
The contribution of this category to the ﬁnancial results of the Group is
presented below:
in US$
Designated upon
initial recognition
Quoted debt securities
Unquoted debt securities
Unquoted equity shares
Interest rate swaps
Total

31.12.2012

– 132,368
359,216
–
556,987
783,835

31.12.2011

325,401
–
–
930,119
1,255,520

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Proﬁt or Loss are the following:
in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Designated upon
initial recognition
Quoted debt securities
Unquoted debt securities
Unquoted equity shares
Total

11,242,932
8,399,690
–
19,642,622

46,112,682
9,899,000
–
56,011,682

The Group holds signiﬁcant cash reserves to ensure that completion of its
projects is not dependent upon availability of outside ﬁnancing. The Group
has invested these liquid funds in debt securities. The average maturity of
the Group’s portfolio of debt securities is less than 12 months, and even
when an individual bond has a longer maturity, it is not the Group’s intention to hold the bond to maturity, but that it will be sold to meet investment
needs. As such, the Group classiﬁes its bond portfolio as a current asset.
Quoted debt securities
The Group has investments in quoted debt securities for which there is an
active market and published price quotations are available. The fair value of
these securities is determined by reference to the published price quotations.
Unquoted debt securities
Some portion of ﬁnancial instruments includes unquoted debt securities for
which there are no observable market prices. The value of these securities is determined based on the modelled price quoted by an independent
broker.
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The debt securities as of 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 comprise the following:

Issuer
Quoted debt securities
Weltbank
EIB
Citigroup Inc
Russian Federation
Russian Federation
RSHB Capital SA
RSHB Capital SA
Gaz Capital SA
Unquoted debt securities
Weltbank
GBP Eurobond Finance
Total

Issuer
Quoted debt securities
BNP Paribas
ING Bank
EIB
Weltbank
Commerzbank
Gazprombank
Gaz Capital
Citigroup
Mobile Telesystems Finance
HSBC Finance Corporation
EBRD
KFW
Citigroup
KFW
EIB
Merrill Lynch
Deutsche Bank
Citigroup
Merrill Lynch
Gazprombank Eurobond Finance
Unquoted debt securities
Gazprom ECP
Total

S&P ratings

Maturity date

Currency

Face value

Fair value
in US$ as of
31.12.2012

AAA
AAA
ABBB+
BBB+
BBB
BBB
BBB

16.09.2013
11.03.2013
19.08.2013
06.02.2013
23.01.2013
16.05.2013
25.03.2013
11.04.2013

RUB
RUB
US$
RUB
RUB
US$
RUB
US$

16,750,000
25,000,000
2,088,000
36,000,000
35,000,000
2,000,000
32,600,000
2,000,000

553,277
861,710
2,211,053
1,214,134
1,184,954
2,060,439
1,091,538
2,065,828

AAA
BB+

27.02.2013
27.06.2013

RUB
US$

30,000,000
7,500,000

1,031,390
7,368,300
19,642,622

S&P ratings

Maturity date

Currency

Face value

Fair value
in US$ as of
31.12.2011

AAA+
AAA
AAA
A
n.a.
n.a.
ABB
A
AAA
AAA
AAAA
AAA
A
A+
AABB+

21.12.2012
14.01.2013
11.03.2013
16.09.2013
25.10.2013
09.12.2013
23.05.2016
27.08.2012
28.01.2012
14.09.2012
14.02.2012
14.02.2012
27.02.2012
25.05.2012
14.06.2012
15.08.2012
12.10.2012
17.10.2012
25.04.2013
28.06.2013

US$
US$
RUB
RUB
EUR
CHF
US$
US$
US$
US$
RUB
RUB
US$
RUB
RUB
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$

2,000,000
5,500,000
25,000,000
15,750,000
5,000,000
5,000,000
4,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
25,000,000
7,740,000
2,043,000
22,000,000
30,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

1,965,081
5,516,057
808,885
514,704
6,489,548
5,485,692
4,026,150
2,047,450
2,073,856
1,979,597
819,580
253,742
2,088,729
711,361
963,312
2,078,311
2,067,090
2,062,589
2,048,350
2,112,600

unsecured

23.04.2012

US$

10,000,000

9,899,000
56,011,682
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Unquoted equity shares
The Company owns 10% of Sarnatus Trading Limited (“Sarnatus”). To the
best of our knowledge, as of 31 December 2012 Sarnatus does not own any
assets, therefore it is carried at zero value (31 December 2011: zero value).
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Proﬁt or Loss consist of the following interest rate swap which have been entered into for the purpose of ﬁxing
an interest rate on otherwise ﬂoating rate bank loan.
in US$
Designated upon
initial recognition
Interest rate swap
UniCredit bank
Total

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the
fair value of ﬁnancial instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs that have a signiﬁcant effect
on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly

824,427
824,427

1,381,414
1,381,414

At 31 December 2012, the Group had an interest rate swap agreement in
place with a notional amount of US$ 36 million (31 December 2011: US$
36 million) whereby the Group receives a ﬁxed rate of interest of 7.17 %.

In US$
Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss:
Debt securities

In US$
Liabilities measured at fair value
Financial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss:
Interest rate swaps

Level 3: techniques that use inputs that have a signiﬁcant effect on the
recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data
As at 31 December 2012, the Group held the following instruments carried
at fair value in the statement of ﬁnancial position:

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

31.12.2012

11,242,932

8,399,690

–

19,642,622

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

31.12.2012

–

824,427

–

824,427
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During the period ending 31 December 2012, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements.As at 31 December
2011, the Group held the following Financial Instruments Measured at Fair
Value:
In US$
Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss:
Debt securities

In US$
Liabilities measured at fair value
Financial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss:
Interest rate swaps

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

31.12.2011

46,112,682

9,899,000

–

56,011,682

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

31.12.2011

–

1,381,414

–

1,381,414

During the period ending 31 December 2011, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements.
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the
market for a ﬁnancial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the
Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include
the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments
that are substantially the same, discounted cash ﬂow analysis, option pricing models, and independent broker prices, making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-speciﬁc inputs.

EPH Real Estate
(closing balance for 10% stake)
Connecta KG
(closing balance for 10% stake)
Vestive
(closing balance for 50% stake)
Hypercenter Investment SA
(closing balance for 25.9% stake)

in US$
EPH Real Estate
Connecta KG
Vestive
Hypercenter Investment SA

10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
Investments in Associates comprise the following:
in US$

The contribution of Share of Associates’ Gain / (Loss) in the ﬁnancial results
of the Group is presented below:

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

7,106,698

5,572,401

9,601,826

4,900,308

–

–

–
16,708,524

–
10,472,709

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

1,202,458
4,347,377
–
–
5,549,835

1,314,061
1,055,374
– 24,297,807
–
– 21,928,372

EPH Real Estate (EPH RE)
EPH RE is a company which owns Geneva House, class A ofﬁce and retail
building in the center of Moscow. In 2011 the Group sold the majority of
shares in this entity and became a 10% shareholder. Even after the Group’s
stake in EPH RE was reduced to 10%, the Group continues to have signiﬁcant inﬂuence on its activities, including the right to appoint one of the
three directors. As such, EPH RE is treated as an Associate, rather than a
Financial Investment. The following table illustrates summarised ﬁnancial
information of the Group’s investment in EPH RE:
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in US$

in US$
EPH Real Estate
Beginning of the period
Additions
Share of associates’ gain
Exchange differences
Closing balance for 10% stake

in US$
EPH Real Estate
(10% of company)
Assets
Liabilities
Proﬁt

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

5,572,401
–
1,202,458
331,839
7,106,698

–
4,914,708
1,486,011
– 828,318
5,572,401

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

17,399,159
10,292,461
1,202,458

15,431,937
9,859,536
1,486,011

CONNECTA GMBH & CO. KG (CONNECTA KG)
Connecta KG is a company which owns Berlin House, class A ofﬁce and retail building in the center of Moscow. In 2011 the Group sold the majority of
shares in this entity and became a 10% shareholder. Even after the Group’s
stake in Connecta KG was reduced to 10%, the Group continues to have
signiﬁcant inﬂuence on its activities, including the right to appoint one of
the three directors. As such, Connecta KG is treated as an Associate, rather
than a Financial Investment. The following table illustrates summarised ﬁnancial information of the Group’s investment in Connecta KG:

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

4,900,308
–
4,347,377
354,141
9,601,826

–
4,545,957
1,054,664
– 700,313
4,900,308

in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Connecta KG (10% of company)
Assets
Liabilities
Proﬁt

14,320,045
4,718,219
4,347,377

9,491,111
4,590,803
1,054,664

Connecta KG
Beginning of the period
Additions
Share of associates’ gain
Exchange differences
Closing balance for 10% stake

VESTIVE
The Company owns 100% of the limited partnership interests in Eastern
Property Partners II (EPP II) which is the 50% owner of Vestive Limited,
a company registered in Cyprus. Vestive owns 100% of Inkonika LLC, a
Russian company which has developed Turgenevskaya underground parking garage, and is in the process of registration of ownership to this property. Inkonika LLC also has entered into investment contract with the city
of Moscow to develop Khokhlovskaya parking garage in the city’s Central
Administrative District.
Although the Group owns 50% of Vestive Limited, the remaining 50% is
owned by two other investors. Based on terms of the shareholder’s agreement in place between the three owners of Vestive, at least one of the two
25% shareholders must vote with the Group to pass any measure. As such,
the Group cannot be said to control the company, therefore, Vestive Limited
is treated as an associate.
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The fair value of Vestive’s assets was based on their market value as determined by the Moscow ofﬁce of international property consultant Jones Lang
LaSalle as independent appraiser.
The valuer has adopted the income approach in which they have capitalised
the current income stream, as well as any reversionary income in the future
calculated based on the valuers assumptions which include the allocation of
spaces in a facility between hourly rent, long term lease and sale, and the
amount of demand which exists or will exist in the speciﬁc location.
As of 31 December 2012 the value of Vestive’s parking projects is US$
21.50 million (31 December 2011: US$ 19.38 million) and the total amount
of assets is US$ 24.83 million, however, liabilities, the largest of which are
loans from Vestive’s shareholders, are in excess of this amount and the net
asset value of the company is negative. We still carry the value of Vestive as
an Investment in Associates at zero value, though the Group’s loans to Vestive remain fully collateralised by the company’s assets, and are reﬂected as
Loans and Receivables (See Note 11). The following table illustrates summarised ﬁnancial information of the Group’s investment in Vestive Limited:
in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

–
–
–
–

24,297,807
– 24,297,807
–
–

in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Vestive (50% of company)
Assets
Liabilities
Loss

12,417,422
15,618,259
– 410,672

11,356,774
13,993,287
– 28,103,037

Vestive
Beginning of the period
Share of associates’ losses
Exchange differences
Closing balance for 50% stake

HYPERCENTER INVESTMENT SA
Hypercenter Investment SA (Hypercenter) is an unlisted company incorporated in Luxembourg. The Company owns 25.9%, Athris Holding AG holds
49% and the founders of Mosmart own 25.1%. The joint venture was created to build shopping centers in a number of Russian cities which would be
anchored by Mosmart stores.
Since 2007 the Hypercenter board of directors has not approved audited
ﬁnancials for the company. Though a signiﬁcant shareholder, EPH has been
unable to access any reliable ﬁnancial or operational information for several
accounting periods. Management assumes that little, if any, value remains
in Hypercenter and is evaluating options for determining the joint venture’s
current ﬁnancial situation and, if it is the case, the circumstances under
which all value was lost. Management believes it is most prudent at this
point to assume its equity stake in Hypercenter Investment SA has zero (31
December 2011: the same) value pending reliable information demonstrating otherwise.
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11. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Loans (long term)
Vakhtangov Place Limited
Bluestone Investments
Vestive
EPH Real Estate
Connecta KG
Total

46,341,226
430,048
16,199,393
8,591,114
4,135,169
75,696,950

26,396,049
457,521
14,531,179
8,591,114
488,176
50,464,039

833,728
259,618
1,093,346

787,114
25,693
812,807

Loans (short term)
EPH Real Estate
Connecta KG
Total

VAKHTANGOV PLACE LIMITED (VPL) AND BLUESTONE INVESTMENTS
The Group has ﬁnanced the construction of the Arbat Multi-use Complexes
by making interest-bearing loans to the joint venture. The loans are generally made for a one year period, then, if appropriate, renewed.
The Group consolidates VPL and Bluestone by integration of 60% of its
balance sheet in accordance with the requirements of IAS 31 “Interest in
Joint Venture”. As such, 60% of the Group’s loans to the joint venture are
eliminated in consolidation, while the remaining 40% of the loans are carried on the Group’s balance sheet as Loans and Receivables.

VESTIVE
The Group has made a number of loans to its 50% owned associate Vestive’s subsidiary to ﬁnance construction of parking garages in the center
of Moscow. The loans are generally made for a one year period, then, if
appropriate, renewed.
EPH REAL ESTATE AND CONNECTA KG
The receivables from EPH Real Estate Limited (EPH RE) and Connecta
Gmbh&Co. KG (Connecta KG) represent the loans remaining after the sale
of 90% stakes in these entities. Also in 2012 the Group provided US$ 3.62
million loan to Connecta KG as its pro-rata share of the total required to
repay matured Aareal bank loan.
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12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
31.12.2012
Valartis Bank

in US$
Cash at bank and in hand
Fiduciary deposits
Short term forwards
Bank overdraft
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Others

3,935,380
2,176,035
–
3,770,731
–
–
–
–
3,935,380
5,946,766
9,882,146

31.12.2011
Valartis Bank

Others

4,082,871
2,641,550
–
13,621,531
452,077
–
–
–
4,534,948
16,263,081
20,798,029

13. LOANS FROM BANKS AND OTHER
in US$
Loans from banks (long term)
UniCredit bank loan
Total
Loans from banks and others (short
term)
UniCredit bank loan
Other
Total

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

32,650,000
32,650,000

34,450,000
34,450,000

2,227,867
3,979
2,231,846

1,750,000
1,303,282
3,053,282

UNICREDIT BANK LOAN
In January 2009 the Group drew a US$ 40.00 million, non-recourse 5 year
term loan from UniCredit Bank secured by Petrovsky Fort. The effective
interest rate, which is comprised of an interest rate swap (see Note 9) and a
set margin paid to the bank is 7.17 % per annum.

Under the facility agreement between the Group and UniCredit Bank, the
ratio of debt service to net rental income (DSCR) shall not fall below 135%,
meaning the net rental income must not be less than 135% of the interest
and amortisation payment obligations for the next 12 months. If the ratio
falls below 135%, the Group should ensure that excess rental income after
payment of debt service is paid into an account pledged to the bank. Under certain circumstances, the bank can use the amounts deposited to pay
down the principal amount of the loan, otherwise they will be released to the
Group. The DSCR is tested at each quarterly interest payment date. If it falls
below 100% the bank has the right to accelerate the loan.
The Loan-to-Value (LTV) provision of the agreement, as signed, dictates
that the overall credit amount outstanding under the loan agreement cannot
equal more than 65% of the fair value of the building and is tested annually.
As of 31 December 2012 the LTV is 61% and DSCR is higher than 135%,
so the loan is not in breach of the covenants.
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14. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
2012
Performance
fees

in US$
Opening balance
Additional provisions
Reversal
Closing balance

12,632,414
225,603
12,858,017

Analysis of total provisions
Non-current
Current
Closing balance

Other

Total

25,660
1,419
27,079

12,658,074
225,603
1,419
12,885,096

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

12,858,017
27,079
12,885,096

12,632,414
25,660
12,658,074

Valartis International Limited is to receive a performance fee equalling 15%
of the appreciation of the Group’s investments.
Provisions are made for the payment of performance fees each reporting
period, but the fees are only paid if there is a cash event involving a holding which has appreciated in value based on the valuation underlying the
audited annual ﬁnancial statements in accordance with the terms of the
Real Estate Management Agreement. Payment of performance fees is also
subject to a high water mark which is the per share net asset value of the
Group at the time of the prior payment of a performance fee. A performance
fee was paid when Berlin House was reﬁnanced in October 2007, setting
the high water mark at US$ 111.86 per share. Provisions for performance
fees are also reduced when the value of an asset decreases. The amount of
a performance fee is set when a cash event occurs, though the fee will only
be paid when the high water mark is again reached.
15. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
in US$
Finance lease liabilities
Tenant deposits (interest free)
Total

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

3,568,026
225,780
3,793,806

3,352,685
183,085
3,535,770

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES
Finance Lease Liabilties represent current and non-current obligations of
the Group in relation to rent payments to the cities of Moscow and St. Petersburg for lease of the land under Magistral’naya and Petrovsky Fort. Minimum lease payments are accounted for as ﬁnancial lease and the present

values of these payments as at 31 December 2012 are as follows:
31.12.2012

in US$
Within 1 year
After 1 year but not more
than 5 years
More than 5 years
Less: future interest costs
Total

Present
value

Minimum
lease
payments

20,069

396,537

78,450
3,469,507
3,568,026
–
3,568,026

1,562,498
12,904,262
14,863,297
– 11,295,271
3,568,026

31.12.2011

in US$
Within 1 year
After 1 year but not more
than 5 years
More than 5 years
Less: future interest costs
Total

Present
value

Minimum
lease
payments

578

356,362

76,113
3,275,994
3,352,685
–
3,352,685

1,479,461
12,493,249
14,329,072
– 10,976,387
3,352,685
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16 NET RENTAL INCOME
The breakdown of Net Rental Income on an asset by asset basis is presented below:
31.12.2012
in US$
Gross rental income
Ground rents paid
Service charge income on principal basis
Service charge expenses on principal basis
Property operating expenses
Repair and maintenance costs
Non-income taxes
Net rental income

Petrovsky
Fort

Magistral’naya

Berlin
House

Geneva
House

Total

6,632,285
– 335,785
2,235,992
– 1,092,906
– 1,404,065
– 610,600
– 498,660
4,926,261

1,170,414
– 46,627
74,203
– 343,439
– 2,018
–
– 14,498
838,035

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

7,802,698
– 382,412
2,310,196
– 1,436,345
– 1,406,083
– 610,600
– 513,158
5,764,296

31.12.2011
in US$
Gross rental income
Ground rents paid
Service charge income on principal basis
Service charge expenses on principal basis
Property operating expenses
Repair and maintenance costs
Non-income taxes
Net rental income

Petrovsky
Fort

Magistral’naya

Berlin
House

Geneva
House

Total

5,763,107
– 349,032
2,678,146
– 1,180,162
– 997,631
– 444,715
– 536,654
4,933,058

958,244
– 43,983
56,477
– 400,655
– 1,531
–
– 16,494
552,059

3,977,068
– 21,243
467,517
– 658,939
– 424,760
– 48,422
– 433,106
2,858,115

3,013,919
–
53,947
– 248,098
– 1,155,223
– 292,037
– 804,038
568,469

13,712,338
– 414,258
3,256,086
– 2,487,854
– 2,579,145
– 785,174
– 1,790,292
8,911,700
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20. NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE (LOSS) / GAIN
in US$

17. ACCRUAL FOR PERFORMANCE FEES
in US$
A. Berlin House
B. Petrovsky Fort
C. Magistral’naya
D. Geneva House
E. Arbat Multi-use Complexes
F. "Scandinavia" Land plots
in St. Petersburg
Total

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

– 661,500
–
–
– 56,107
464,732

– 21,000
– 1,396,500
–
– 46,063
– 1,431,505

27,272
– 225,603

1,917,218
– 977,850

18. INTEREST INCOME
in US$
Loan receivable interest
Interest on bonds
Bank interest
Total

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

5,819,298
2,013,989
32,456
7,865,743

4,369,604
268,583
114,686
4,752,873

19. GAIN ON INCREASED OWNERSHIP STAKE
On 25 January 2012, the Company obtained non-voting preferred shares
in the joint-venture company Bluestone Investments Limited, resulting in
an additional 10% equity stake and an increase of its ownership from 50%
to 60% of the company. With the shares being non-voting, no change of
joint-control occurred. The increased ownership resulted in a gain of US$
1.67 million (31 December 2011: US$ 5.87 million) for the Group.

Net (loss) / gain from
foreign currency translation
UniCredit bank loan
Aareal Bank loan
Nomos bank loan
Intercompany loans
Berlin House
Petrovsky Fort
Magistral’naya
Geneva House
Arbat Multi-use Complexes
investment property
"Scandinavia" Land plots
in St. Petersburg
Arbat Multi-use Complexes
development property
Cumulative translation adjustment
in EPH RE and Connecta KG
Other
Total

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

1,950,492
–
–
9,012,590
–
– 3,485,768
– 376,557
–

– 2,124,349
3,452,909
1,897,743
– 1,452,519
– 8,248,734
3,663,168
312,294
– 12,851,541

– 464,166

346,149

– 2,053,563

1,709,556

–

3,066,411

–
– 198,312
4,384,715

– 2,302,332
– 2,309,083
– 14,840,328

During the period under review the exchange rate of RUB against US$ decreased from 32.1581 RUB as of 1 January 2012 to 30.4731 RUB for one
US$ as of 31 December 2012. The functional currency of the Company’s
asset-owning subsidiaries is the RUB. When the RUB strengthens against
the US$, US$ denominated assets create a loss and US$ denominated liabilities create a gain due to the fact that the proﬁt or loss of these subsidiaries is calculated on a RUB basis.
21. FINANCE COSTS
in US$
Interest on bank loans
Bank charges
Interest on loan payable
Other ﬁnance cost
Total

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

2,573,486
155,515
–
302,403
3,031,404

5,540,392
560,093
427,401
387,210
6,915,096
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22. TAXATION
The Company is domiciled in the British Virgin Islands (BVI), and organised
as a Business Corporation, which is tax exempt in the BVI. Therefore, proﬁts
can be accumulated and paid out free of any corporate tax or withholding
tax.

in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Proﬁt / (loss) before tax
Income tax at Russian corporate
tax rate of 20% (2011: 20%)
Non-deductable expenses
Non-taxable income
Effect of lower tax rates
in other countries
Income taxes

11,100,966

– 51,499,354

– 2,220,193
– 502,338
812,070

10,299,871
– 11,799,607
1,425,007

2,736,449
825,988

– 4,392,434
– 4,467,163

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

2,014,943
2,014,943

1,200,282
1,200,282

in US$
TAXATION IN RUSSIA
The Group’s subsidiaries in Russia are liable for the following taxes in the
Russian Federation (save for payroll taxes, if any):
– 20% payable on the taxable proﬁt calculated as the difference between
rental income and tax deductible expenses incurred by the companies
in connection with the permanent establishment (therefore the Russian
corporate tax rate is used for income tax reconciliation);
– 2.2 % property tax on the book value of the properties.
Income taxes
According to Russian Accounting Standards (RAS) Inspetsstroy LLC incurred a loss in 2012, so rent income from Magistralnaya was not subject
to taxation. Petrovsky Fort LLC had a taxable proﬁt according to RAS, but
applied unused tax losses from prior periods, so did not pay income taxes.
Tax losses have been recognised as a Deferred Income Tax Asset as it is
probable that taxable proﬁt will be available against which the unused tax
losses can be utilised.
As of 31 December 2012, the available tax losses capable of being carried forward can be offset against taxable proﬁts. Generally tax losses can
be offset within 10 years starting from the year of recognition. The oldest
losses refer to 2009 thus they can be offset before 2019.
The major components of income tax beneﬁts for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 are:
in US$
Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax beneﬁt/
(expense)
Income taxes

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

0.00

– 42

825,988
825,988

– 4,467,121
– 4,467,163

Reconciliation between income tax beneﬁts and the product of accounting
proﬁt multiplied by the Russian tax rate for the years ended 31 December
2012 and 2011 is as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets available for offset
against future taxable income

Due to the presence in Russian commercial legislation, and tax legislation
in particular, of provisions allowing more than one interpretation, it is possible that a particular treatment based on management’s judgment of the
Group’s business activities could be challenged by the tax authorities and
the Group may be deemed liable additional taxes, penalties and interest.
While the Group believes it has complied with all applicable regulations and
requirements, the regulations are not always clearly written, and it is difﬁcult
to predict future interpretations by regulatory authorities, and outcomes of
such interpretations.
The new Russian transfer pricing legislation, which came into force on 1
January 2012, allows the Russian tax authority to apply transfer pricing adjustments and impose additional proﬁts tax liabilities in respect of all “controlled” transactions if the transaction price differs from the market price.
The list of “controlled” transactions includes transactions performed with
related parties and certain types of cross-border transactions. The current
Russian transfer pricing rules have considerably increased the compliance
burden for the taxpayers compared to the transfer pricing rules which were
in effect before 2012 due to, inter alia, shifting the burden of proof from
the Russian tax authorities to the taxpayers. These rules are applicable not
only to the transactions taking place in 2012 but also to the prior transactions with related parties if related income and expenses were recognized in
2012. The new provisions apply for both cross-border and domestic transactions. For domestic transactions the transfer pricing rules apply only if
the amount of all transaction with related party exceeds RUR 3 billion in
2012. In cases where the domestic transaction resulted in an accrual of
additional tax liabilities for one party to the transaction, another party could
correspondingly adjust its proﬁt tax liabilities. Special transfer pricing rules
apply to transactions with securities and derivatives.
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In 2012 the Group had only a few “controlled” transactions and determined
its tax liabilities arising from such transactions using actual transaction
prices which, in the Group’s opinion, are determined on arm’s length basis.
Due to the uncertainty and absence of current practice of application of the
current Russian transfer pricing legislation, the Russian tax authorities may
challenge the level of prices applied by the Group under the “controlled”
transactions and accrue additional tax liabilities unless, the Group is able to
demonstrate the use of market prices with respect to the “controlled” transactions, and that there has been proper reporting to the Russian tax authorities, supported by appropriate available transfer pricing documentation.

23. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic Earnings per Share amounts are calculated by dividing Net Proﬁt/Loss
for the Year Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. As there are
no dilutive instruments outstanding, Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share
are identical.
The following reﬂects the income and share data used in the Basic and
Diluted Earnings per Share computations:
in US$
Earnings per share
Net proﬁt / (loss) attributable to shareholders
Weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding
Earnings per share (US$ per share)

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

11,926,954

– 55,966,517

4,262,613
2.80

4,262,613
– 13.13

24. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Art. 5 of the Company’s Memorandum of Association, as amended by the
resolutions passed at the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting of 29 June
2004, 19 November 2004 and 7 March 2005, and the General Meeting of
Members of 16 May 2006, 3 May 2007 and 24 June 2008 provides for
an authorised capital which entitles the Board of Directors to issue a total
of 9,000,000 registered ordinary shares without par value and 1,000,000
registered Series A preferred shares without par value.
Art. 3.4 of the Articles of Association foresees that the existing shareholders
shall, in principle, be entitled to their subscription rights in the context of an
authorised capital increase.
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Change of Capital

Number of ordinary shares
31.12.2012
31.12.2011
Authorised capital
Total authorised capital
Opening balance unissued authorised capital
Increase
Utilisation for capital increase
Conversion to ordinary shares
Closing balance unissued authorised capital

9,000,000
3,661,868
–
–
–
3,661,868

9,000,000
3,661,868
–
–
–
3,661,868

Number of ordinary shares
31.12.2012
31.12.2011
Issued share capital
Opening balance
Capital increase
Closing balance

5,338,132
–
5,338,132

5,338,132
–
5,338,132

Treasury shares
Opening balance
Issued to treasury
Purchase
Sales
Closing balance

Treasury shares do not participate in proﬁts of the Group and do not carry
any voting rights.
All outstanding shares rank equally as to dividends and all other pecuniary
rights associated with share ownership. Common shares are entitled to one
vote each. Preferred A shares are not entitled to vote. No Preferred A shares
are outstanding or in issue.

Number of series A
preferred shares
31.12.2012
31.12.2011

1,000,000
1,000,000
–
–
–
1,000,000

1,000,000
1,000,000
–
–
–
1,000,000

Number of series A
preferred shares
31.12.2012
31.12.2011

–
–
–

–
–
–

31.12.2012

Number of shares
31.12.2011

1,075,519
–
–
–
1,075,519

1,075,519
–
–
–
1,075,519

In May 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors decided to eliminate the
“Share Premium” line on the Company’s balance sheet and present the
Equity position showing the offset of Share Premium against Accumulated
Deﬁcit starting 2012. The reason for this change is that the concept of
“capital” does not exist in the BVI since 2004 and it is thus a clearer way
to show the equity.
No dividend was paid during 2012.
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25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The ﬁnancial statements include the ﬁnancial statements of the Company
and the subsidiaries and joint ventures. The Company’s investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures are listed in the following table:
Name of subsidiary

Incorporated in

% Holding
31.12.2012
31.12.2011

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

GH Immobiliare B.V.
Stainﬁeld Limited
Redhill Investment Limited
Romsay Properties Limited

Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands
Limassol, Cyprus
Limassol, Cyprus
Limassol, Cyprus
Limassol, Cyprus
Rotterdam,
Netherlands
Limassol, Cyprus
Limassol, Cyprus
Limassol, Cyprus

100%
100%
100%
99.90%

100%
100%
100%
99.90%

Jointly controlled entity
Vakhtangov Place Limited
Bluestone Investments Limited

Limassol, Cyprus
Limassol, Cyprus

60%
60%

60%
50%

Eastern Property Partners II LP
Housefar Limited
Idelisa Limited
Silverlake Limited
Whiterock Investments Limited

The Company owns 50% of Vestive through Eastern Property Partners II LP
and 10% interests in EPH Real Estate Limited, Connecta GmbH & Co. KG
and Connecta GmbH.

The following 100%-owned subsidiaries of Valartis Group have contractual
agreements in place with the Group under which management fee / advisory
fees / performance fees are charged:

The Company also owns 25.9% of Hypercenter Investment SA and 10% of
Sarnatus Trading Limited.

–
–
–

As such, each of the companies named above is to be considered a related
party. The Group’s transactions with these companies in the period under
review, subsequent to the period’s close, and planned in the future are described in corresponding notes.

–

Valartis International Ltd has a management agreement with EPH
Valartis Asset Management has an advisory agreement with EPH
Valartis International Ltd has property management agreements in
place with Petrovsky Fort LLC (Petrovsky Fort)
Valartis Internationa Ltd has property management agreements in place
with Connecta KG (Berlin House) and EPH One LLC
(Geneva House)
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Valartis International Ltd. is General Partner of EPP II LP; and in this capacity
owns a nominal interest in the partnership, though its value is not material.
Managers, employees and shareholders of the Valartis Group companies
are members of the Management Committee and Board of Directors of the
Company.
The total amount of management and advisory fees earned by all Valartis
Group subsidiaries under all contracts described above is limited to 2%
of the net assets of the Group per annum as deﬁned by the Real Estate
Management Agreement between Valartis International Limited and EPH.
Any fees paid under the property management agreements in excess of the
actual cost of providing the services are deducted from amounts payable
under the Real Estate Management Agreement.
On 19 December 2012, Valartis Group and its afﬁliates sold all EPH shares
held to the Aurora Value Fund, which became a parent company of EPH.
The Group’s related party balances as of 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 consisted of the following:
in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Loans and receivables
Cash & cash equivalents
Provisions for long-term
liabilities and charges
Debt
Accounts payable
and accrued expenses

76,790,296
3,935,380

51,276,846
4,534,948

12,858,017
–

12,632,414
1,087,130

2,175,204

2,434,788

The Group’s transactions with related parties for the period ended of
31 December 2012 and 2011 consisted of the following:
in US$

31.12.2012

31.12.2011

Gross rental income
Property operating expenses
Performance fees
Management fees
Professional and
administration fees
Interest income
Finance costs

61,129
– 1,323,168
– 225,603
– 5,633,332

277,105
– 2,380,663
– 977,850
– 6,006,930

– 749,653
5,819,298
– 129,331

– 365,578
4,369,604
– 316,101

26. REAL ESTATE MANAGER
The real estate activities of the Company are managed by Valartis International Ltd, a subsidiary of Valartis Group AG. Employees of Valartis Group
are members of the Management Committee and Board of Directors of the
Company.
Under the terms of the Real Estate Management Agreement, Valartis International is entitled to a management fee calculated at an annual rate of 2%
of the average net asset value (NAV) of the Group, plus VAT, if applicable.
For the purpose of calculating the NAV underlying the management fee, any
outstanding debt issued by the Group that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, equity either on the date the management fee is calculated, or on
a later date, will be treated as equity. No such debt is outstanding or has
been issued.
The management fee is payable quarterly in arrears. However, the Group
calculates its net asset value only semi-annually, so quarterly management
fee amounts are estimated at the time of payment, and subject to semiannual adjustments to reﬂect differences between the estimated and actual
NAV when known. As of 31 December 2012 the unpaid management fee is
US$ 1.44 million (2011: US$ 1.98 million).
Since 1 January 2010, Valartis Asset Management has invoiced EPH for
advisory services based on actual time spent. All advisory fees payable by
the Group under agreements with Valartis Asset Management are deducted
from the fees payable to Valartis International Limited under the Real Estate
Management Agreement.
Valartis International is entitled to a performance fee of 15% of the appreciation of the Company’s investment properties, ﬁnancial investments,
and other investments, subject to a high water mark principle, and payable
only in case of a cash event with respect to an appreciated asset. Until such
realisation, any accruals of the performance fee will be reﬂected on the balance sheet as a provision.
For the year 2012, US$ 5.63 million (2011: US$ 6.01 million) was paid or is
payable as management fees, and US$ 0.23 million has been accrued for
payment of performance fees based on the current values of the Company’s
ﬁnancial investments and real estate assets (2011: accrual of US$ 0.98
million).
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to review and investigations by a number of authorities enabled by law to
impose ﬁnes and penalties. While the Group believes it has provided adequately for all tax liabilities based on its understanding of the tax legislation,
the above facts may create tax risks for the Group.

27. POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
The investment process has been designed to exclude, as far as possible,
conﬂicts of interest. It is nevertheless possible that conﬂicts of interest may
arise between the investment manager, Valartis International Limited, the
members of the Management Committee and Board of Directors, and the
Company.
In particular:
– The members of the Management Committee might not work exclusively for the Group and some members may serve similar roles in other
Valartis Group companies.
– Members of the Board of Directors and the Management Committee
are not precluded from privately investing in properties or companies in
which the Group is invested or in which it may consider investing.
– Valartis International Ltd. could manage real estate investments which
are not EPH assets.
Valartis International Limited will, in such event, have regard to its obligations under the Real Estate Management Agreement and, in particular, to
its obligations to act in the Company’s best interest, as far as practicable
and having regard to its obligations to other clients, when potential conﬂicts
of interest may arise. Neither Valartis International Limited nor the Management Committee will, in relation to any of the Company’s investments or
proposed investments, deal with the Company as principal or agent, except
in circumstances where it is able to show that the terms of the dealing are at
arm’s length, or, if the circumstances do not make it feasible to show that,
where the Board of Directors gives its consent
28. CONTINGENCIES
RUSSIAN FEDERATION TAX AND REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT
Russian tax legislation is subject to frequent change and some of the laws
related to Russian taxes are comparatively new and continue to evolve. Of
particular interest to the Group, co-investment agreements under which
parties to a real estate investment agreement with the municipal authorities
can accept investor ﬁnancing, and ultimately register initial ownership of the
properties to the investor are not clearly deﬁned in the tax code. Differing
interpretations of tax regulations exist both among and within government
ministries and organisations at the federal, regional and local levels, leading
to uncertain and inconsistent enforcement. In particular, taxes are subject

The Russian Federation is still developing the legal framework required to
support a market economy. Frequently, it will not be possible to determine
in advance whether a proposed course of action is legal, or would be considered legal by a court or other governmental authority of competent jurisdiction. If, in an unpredictable legal environment, a Russian court or a
governmental authority takes a position unfavourable to the Group, it could
materially and adversely affect its business, ﬁnancial condition, results of
operations, properties and prospects.
In order to use and develop land in Russia, approvals and consents of various federal, regional, and local governmental authorities are required. The
approval and consent requirements vary from locality to locality; they are
numerous, sometimes contradictory, subject to change without public notice, and are occasionally applied retroactively. In view of the complexities
of Russian land legislation, it is, even with utmost diligence, often difﬁcult to
assure full compliance of real estate properties and developments with all
governmental and administrative regulations in Russia. If any of the Group’s
existing or prospective real estate investments is found not to be in compliance with all applicable regulations, it may have a material adverse effect
on such property and on the Group’s overall ﬁnancial condition, results of
operations, business and prospects.
29. COMMITMENTS
The Group has entered into a loan agreement with Inkonika LLC, which
is 50% owned by the Group. US$ 0.62 million of the total loan amount
remained undrawn at balance sheet date.
30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of ﬁnancial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash ﬂow interest
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of ﬁnancial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s ﬁnancial
performance. Risk management is carried out by the Management Committee and supervised by the Board of Directors.
MARKET RISK
Foreign currency risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign currency risk
arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Russian ruble / US dollar exchange rate. Foreign currency risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised monetary assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.
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The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets
are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. The Group seeks, when
possible, to reduce the currency exposure arising from these assets by obtaining direct funding in the same currency.
Most of the Group’s rental income is based on US$-denominated leases.
Payment under the leases is made in RUB. Many expenses on the level of
the Group’s properties are RUB denominated. In order to reduce its exposure to exchange rate risk, for example that a strong RUB would increase
operating expenses in US$ terms, while rents would remain constant, the
Group, when possible, has set a lower limit to the RUB/US$ exchange rate
used for payment of rents. By setting an exchange rate limit, the Group may
receive more RUB to settle a US$-denominated lease payment than the
Group would at the prevailing exchange rate at the time of payment, thus
helping to offset the impact of a strong RUB on the Group’s costs.
As all of the Group’s loan liabilities are denominated in US$, almost all lease
agreements with tenants in the Group’s properties remain US$-linked. In
addition, the Group promptly exchanges signiﬁcant RUB cash balances to
US$ during periods of exchange rate volatility or unpredictability in order
to ensure its ability to meet debt service and other major US$ obligations.
Other than interest and management fees, most signiﬁcant expenses such
as construction costs, property maintenance, security utilities and other
operating costs are denominated and payable in RUB. The Group seeks
to minimise its exposure to foreign currency risk by carefully monitoring
currency markets and holding appropriate amounts of US$ or RUB to meet
its obligations.
Some debt instruments purchased by the Company are not denominated in
US$ therefore the Company uses foreign exchange forwards to manage the
exposure to foreign currency risk.

As at 31 December 2012, if the US dollar had weakened / strengthened
by 5% against the Russian Ruble with all other variables held constant, net
proﬁt for the year would have been US$ 4.5 million (2011: US$ 2.9 million)
higher / lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains / losses on translation of US$-denominated borrowings in subsidiaries and jointly-controlled
entities and RUB-denominated borrowings in the Company.
CASH FLOW AND FAIR VALUE INTEREST RATE RISK
Loans to joint venture or associated companies
As at 31 December 2012, the Group has signiﬁcant loans receivable of US$
76.8 million (2011: US$ 51.3 million). The majority of these loans are interest-bearing at ﬁxed rates, which expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk. Since the majority of the loans have a contractual maturity of less than
one year, fair value of the loans receivable was similar to the carrying value.
All of the loans were granted to the Group’s joint venture or associated companies. To mitigate its risk, loans are made with relatively short maturities
allowing for frequent resetting of rates, and in accordance with shareholder
agreements which stipulate that interest rates will be consistent with market
interest rates.
As at 31 December 2012, if interest rates on loans granted had been 1%
higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the Group’s proﬁt before
tax for the year would have been US$ 0.47 million higher/lower (2011: US$
0.32 million).
Debt securities
The Group operates in an environment in which construction ﬁnancing is not
reliably available at acceptable terms, or at all. As such, it can be necessary to retain signiﬁcant amounts of cash during the construction period of
a project, or until third party ﬁnancing has been arranged. Because cash
needs for construction are relatively predictable, the Group is able to invest
in debt securities (bonds) in order to receive a better return than is available
on bank deposits.
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As at 31 December 2012, the Group has signiﬁcant debt securities of US$
19.6 million (2011: US$ 56.0 million). All holdings as of balance sheet date
had ﬁxed interest rates, exposing the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
To minimise this risk, maturities have been kept short, with 100% of the
portfolio maturing in 2013. The majority of bonds held by the Group are
quoted on the active market and are carried at fair value as of the end 2012.
Please see Note 9 for a detailed description of the Group’s bond portfolio.
As at 31 December 2012, if interest rates on debt securities had been 1%
higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the Group’s proﬁt before
tax for the year would have been US$ 0.20 million lower/higher (2011: US$
0.56 million).
Bank debt
The Group’s interest rate risk also arises from long-term bank debt at
variable interest rates. Variable rate loans do not expose the Group to fair
value risk, but do create cash ﬂow interest rate risk. The Group’s loan from
UniCredit Bank is issued at a variable rate.
The Group manages its cash ﬂow interest rate risk by using ﬂoating-to-ﬁxed
interest rate swaps (Note 9). Such interest rate swaps have the economic
effect of converting borrowings from ﬂoating rates to ﬁxed rates. Under the
interest rate swaps, the Group agrees with other parties to exchange, at
speciﬁc intervals, the difference between ﬁxed contract rates and ﬂoating-rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed notional
amounts. The value of the interest rate swaps does ﬂuctuate, so by entering
into the swaps the Group has opted to reduce its cash ﬂow interest rate risk
by accepting increased interest rate fair value risk.
As at 31 December 2012, if interest rates on Loans from Banks had been
1% higher / lower with all other variables held constant, the Group’s proﬁt
before tax for the year would have been US$ 0.36 million lower / higher
(2011: US$ 0.70 million).
CREDIT RISK
The Group’s credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits
with banks and ﬁnancial institutions, interest bearing ﬁnancial instruments,
credit exposure to loans provided to jointly-controlled entities and associated companies, as well as rents and other receivables from tenants and
accounts receivable in general.

All of the Group’s loans are to joint venture companies, either subsidiaries
or associates, to ﬁnance development projects. As such the ultimate borrowers are, to the extent of ownership, the Group itself and its joint venture
partners. Loans to the project companies are not guaranteed by the joint
venture owners, but are secured by the underlying assets, and ﬁrst claim
over future cash ﬂows of the joint ventures. The Group is able to further
manage exposure to credit risk in respect of the ﬁnancial assistance provided to subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associated companies
through exercising control or signiﬁcant inﬂuence over their ﬁnancial and
operating policy decisions and reviewing the development and valuations of
the underlying investment projects regularly.
The Group has substantial investments in interest bearing ﬁnancial instruments (bonds) in order to earn a reasonable return of cash which is being
held to meet future construction costs of ongoing projects. In order to minimise credit risk, the Group owns investment grade bonds, or, if unrated, the
bonds of issuers who can be considered of similar quality. In addition, maturities of the Group’s bonds are short, with 100% of the portfolio maturing
in 2013, minimising the risk that the credit-worthiness of issuers will signiﬁcantly deteriorate prior to maturity of their bonds. The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the ﬁnancial
instruments described in Note 9.
The Group has policies in place to monitor its exposure to non-payment of
rents by its tenants, including pre-screening prior to signing leases, careful
monitoring of rental receipts, and efforts to collect rents or terminate leases
before receivables become substantial.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the loan receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Loan
agreements for US$ 76.8 million (2011: US$ 51.3 million) contain provisions
to ensure repayment (mortgage over the property once its construction is
ﬁnished, pledge of accounts), once the respective collateral is available.
LIQUIDITY RISK
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity on the basis
of expected cash ﬂow.
The table below shows liabilities as at 31 December 2012 by their remaining
contractual maturity. The amounts disclosed in the maturity table are the
contractual undiscounted cash ﬂows, including gross ﬁnance lease obligations (before deducting future ﬁnance charges). This undiscounted cash
ﬂow differs from the amount included in the consolidated balance sheet
because the consolidated balance sheet amount of ﬁnance lease obligations
is based on discounted cash ﬂows.
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Foreign currency payments are translated using the exchange rate at the
balance sheet date.

in US$
31.12.2012
Liabilities
Loans
Rental deposits
Financial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Trade and other payables
Total

in US$
31.12.2011
Liabilities
Loans
Rental deposits
Financial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Trade and other payables
Total

Less than
1 Month

1 to 6
months

6 to 12
months

1 to 5
Years

More than
5 Years

877,867
–
–
–
877,867

453,979
–
–
8,211,739
8,665,718

900,000
–
–
20,087
920,087

32,650,000
225,780
824,427
–
33,700,207

–
–
–
–
–

Less than
1 Month

1 to 6
months

6 to 12
months

1 to 5
Years

More than
5 Years

839,048
–
–
–
839,048

1,753,282
–
–
5,928,982
7,682,264

800,000
–
–
19,775
819,775

34,450,000
183,085
1,381,414
–
36,014,499

–
–
–
–
–

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and beneﬁts for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debt. Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. As at 31 December 2012,
the Group’s gearing ratio is 8.0% (2011: 5.7%) This ratio is calculated as
net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘shareholders
equity’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt.

31. SALE OF SUBSIDIARIES IN 2011
On 29 June 2011, the Group sold 80% of EPH Real Estate Ltd (EPH RE)
and 79.85% of Connecta Gmbh&Co. KG (Connecta KG), for US$ 77.05
million in total, and no longer controlled these entities. On deconsolidation
the remaining investment was remeasured to fair value and recognised as
follows: 10% was classifed as Investments in Associates and subsequently
accounted for under the equity method, and 10% was classiﬁed as Investments in Associates Held for Sale and subsequently disposed of on 11
August 2011.
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Connecta KG’s 99.85% and 79.85% Net Asset Value (NAV) as at the date
of disposal was:
EPH RE’s 100% and 80% Net Asset Value (NAV) as at the date of disposal
was:
in US$

29.06.2011

Investment property
Other assets
Cash & cash equivalents
Total assets

140,473,000
299,554
3,782,256
144,554,810

Borrowings from bank
Borrowings from Group
Accounts payable
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
100% of identiﬁable NAV

40,000,000
49,959,657
3,534,767
1,913,301
95,407,726
49,147,084

80% of identiﬁable NAV
20% of identiﬁable NAV

39,317,667
9,829,417

Financial result on disposal of EPH RE’s 80% interest
Total consideration for 80% interest
Less 80% of NAV
Less selling expenses
Net loss on disposal of EPH RE’s 80% interest

39,760,184
– 39,317,667
– 1,660,395
– 1,217,878

The total consideration for the 80% equity interest in EPH RE was US$
39.76 million.
The Cumulative Translation Adjustment (CTA) line of the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position reﬂects accumulated gains and losses
from currency translation which have accumulated over a period of years.
With the sale of 90% of EPH RE, the amount of CTA which was attributable
to the former subsidiary are removed from CTA and reﬂected in gains or
losses for the period. The amount of CTA attributable to EPH RE was US$
0.95 million which has been recognised as Net foreign exchange (loss)/
gain (Note 20).
Also in 2011, as part of the sale transaction, the Group received US$ 45.16
million as repayment of 90% of the loans provided to EPH RE for construction of Geneva House.

in US$

29.06.2011

Investment property
Other assets
Cash & cash equivalents
Total assets

90,628,742
1,023,873
1,829,363
93,481,978

Borrowings from bank
Borrowings from Group
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
99.85% of identiﬁable NAV

37,682,273
5,666,182
1,934,740
749,287
1,989,924
48,022,406
45,459,572

79.85% of identiﬁable NAV
20% of identiﬁable NAV

36,367,657
9,091,914

Financial result on disposal of
Connecta KG’s 79.85% interest
Total consideration for 79.85% interest
Less 79.85% of NAV
Less selling expenses
Net loss on disposal of
Connecta KG’s 79.85% interest

37,241,918
– 36,367,657
– 1,966,948
– 1,092,688

The total consideration for the 79.85% interest in Connecta KG was US$
37.24 million.
The Cumulative Translation Adjustment (CTA) line of the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position reﬂects accumulated gains and losses
from currency translation which have accumulated over a period of years.
With the sale of 90% of Connecta KG, the amount of CTA which was attributable to the former subsidiary are removed from CTA and reﬂected in gains
or losses for the period. The amount of CTA attributable to Connecta KG
was US$ 1.35 which has been recognised as Net foreign exchange (loss)/
gain (Note 20).
Also in 2011, as part of the sale transaction, the Group received US$ 5.13
mln as repayment of 90% of its outstanding loans to Connecta KG.
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32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
1. On 1 February 2013, GH Immobiliare B.V., a 100% Dutch subsidiary of
the Company, was dissolved.
2. On 18 March 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors decided to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting at the request of Aurora Value
Fund
3. On 21 March 2013, details for the Extraordinary General Meeting were
published. The EGM will be held on 15 April 2013 in London. The Agenda contains the proposal
– to elect new board members
– to make certain amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association, and
– to increase the authorised capital
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in US$
Turnover and results
Gross rental income
Net gain / (loss) from fair value adjustment on investment property
Net gain / (loss) from fair value adjustment on ﬁnancial investments
Interest income
Gain on increased ownership stake
Net operating gain / (loss)
Net proﬁt / (loss) for the year
Ratios
Net assets
Number of shares outstanding
Net asset value per share
Earnings per share

2012

2011

2010

7,802,698
3,000,584
783,835
7,865,743
1,671,090
8,582,535
11,926,954

13,712,338
– 11,990,393
1,255,520
4,752,873
5,869,516
– 20,345,220
– 55,966,517

13,165,433
48,067,879
– 6,932,687
5,494,226
0.00
29,844,786
12,808,546

288,866,280
4,262,613
67.77
2.80

276,521,257
4,262,613
64.87
– 13.13

343,307,183
4,262,613
80.54
3.00
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INVESTMENT GUIDELINES

1. OBJECTIVE
The objective of Eastern Property Holdings (the “Company”) is to invest
directly, through subsidiaries, or via participation in other companies, in real
estate in Russia, the CIS, and other formerly socialist countries or their successors in Central or Eastern Europe in order to provide capital appreciation
and dividend income to its shareholders. Investments may be existing properties or development projects which are intended to provide capital appreciation
and / or rent income. The Company may also purchase participations in other
companies with real estate-related activities and provide real estate ﬁnancing,
real estate management, sale and leaseback of real estate and enter into real
estate-related ﬁnancial transactions.
2. INVESTMENTS
2.1 REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS
Investment targets are commercial, residential and industrial properties
located within our geographic mandate which provide a reasonable risk / return ratio. The main criteria to be considered are as follows:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)

Quality of location;
Economic outlook;
Infrastructure;
Architecture;
Standard of ﬁttings;
Occupancy;
Quality of tenants;
Flexibility of usage;
Proﬁtability;
Potential for value appreciation;

2.2 DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS
Development projects might be new construction or refurbishing of existing buildings. If development projects are undertaken with a partner,
special care must be to protect the interests of the Company through the
structure and contractual framework of the endeavor.
2.3 FINANCING OF REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS
The Company intends to optimise the return on its investments through
the conservative use of leverage. Interest expenses will be considered on
a consolidated basis.
2.4 PARTICIPATIONS IN COMPANIES
The Company can also invest in majority or minority participations in
other companies with real estate-related activities, including real estate
management.
2.5 REAL ESTATE FINANCING
The Company may provide real estate ﬁnancing secured by mortgages or other
adequate guarantees.

2.6 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
For temporary or defensive purposes, the Company’s assets can also be
invested in ﬁnancial instruments, such as stock, listed shares, bonds, investment funds and other liquid ﬁnancial instruments. The investment in options,
futures and other derivatives is only permitted for hedging purposes. The
Company may furthermore engage into other ﬁnancial transactions such as
currency and interest rate forwards and swaps for hedging purposes.
2.7 OTHER INVESTMENTS
The Company can also, subject to approval of the Board of Directors, invest
up to 10 % of its assets in non-real estate-related investments. Up to 20%
of the Company’s total assets can be invested in real estate investments
outside the Company’s primary geographic area of focus.
3. VALUATION
The entire real estate portfolio will be appraised once a year by an independent real estate appraiser. The results of the yearly appraisal will be used as
the basis for valuation in the Company’s annual report.
4. INVESTMENT PROCESS
4.1 APPROVAL BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
All purchases or sales of properties and all investments in other assets in
excess of US$ 10.00 million, with the exception of ﬁnancial investments
for temporary or cash management purpose must be approved by the Board
of Directors.
4.2 ANALYSIS
Prior to approval, Eastern Property Management Limited will present a comprehensive analysis of potential investments, including ﬁnancing. Analysis
must be based on conservative cost, timing, and rent or sale assumptions.
5. CHANGES TO, AND COMPLIANCE WITH THE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES
The Investment Guidelines can be changed by resolution of the Board of Directors. Compliance with the Investment Guidelines is veriﬁed periodically by the
Board of Directors.
The Investment Guidelines are posted on the Company’s website:
www.easternpropertyholdings.com.
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GLOSSARY

DEVELOPMENTS
Property under development for the purpose of inclusion in investment property at completion.
EQUIVALENT YIELD
The time weighted average return an investor would expect to accrue annually as a percentage of the price paid for a property, taking into consideration the changing nature of the property’s income dynamics.
ESTIMATED RENTAL VALUE (ERV)
The estimated current market value of all lettable space in a property.
GROSS RENTAL INCOME
Contractual rental income for the period from let properties, after taking into
account the net effects of straightlining for lease incentives.
GROSS BUILDING AREA
Total area, including unrentable space.
INTEREST RATE SWAP
An agreement between two parties where one stream of future interest
payments is exchanged for another. It is often the exchange from a ﬁxed
payment to a ﬂoating payment.
LETTABLE SPACE
Any part of a property that can be leased to a tenant.
MARKET RENT
The estimated amount for which a property, or space within a property,
should lease on the date of valuation between a willing lessor and a willing lessee on appropriate terms in an arm’s-length transaction after proper
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently,
and without compulsion.
MARKET VALUE
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date
of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-length
transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted
knowledgably, prudently, and without compulsion.

NET INITIAL YIELD
The net rental income divided by cost of acquisition (including all transaction costs).
NET RENTAL INCOME
Gross rental income less property expenses directly related to letting and
holding the properties.
PASSING RENT
The annual gross rental income as per a certain date, excluding the net
effects of straightlining for lease incentives.
PROPERTY EXPENSES
The expenses directly relating to a property for a certain period of time
for the account of the landlord including service charges not recoverable
because of vacancy.
RENT ROLL
See: Passing rent.
REVERSION
The estimated change in rent at review based on today’s market rents.
REVERSIONARY POTENTIAL
The potential increase in total rent, from marking leases to market and increasing occupancy to 100%.
SERVICE CHARGES
The amounts (pre)paid by the landlord relating to lettable space for which
it has been agreed with tenants to recover these amounts from the tenants
periodically.
TOTAL EQUITY
The value of the assets minus the value of the liabilities.

NAV
See: Net asset value.

VACANT SPACE
Unrented lettable space.

NET ASSET VALUE
The value of the assets less the value of the liabilities.

VOID
Vacant space.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AND
CORPORATE DETAILS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Gustav Stenbolt
Kay Reddy
Philipp LeibundGut
Bernhard Sucher
Kirill Rubinski
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Eastern Property Holdings Limited
c / o Blenheim Trust (BVI) Limited
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